

Field

PhD THESIS - ABSTRACT -

Architecture and Archival science. A contextualized study in Romania and Europe

PhD Student: Maria Alexandra Sas PhD Supervisor: Lect. Dr. habil. Arch. Dan-Ionuţ Julean

Examination committee:

> - Cluj-Napoca -2024

Contents

1. Motivation for choosing the topic	3
2. Defined objectives	4
3. Methodology of the research	4
4. Sources	5
5. Previous research on the topic	6
6. Difficulties	7
7. Structure of the thesis	7
4. Romania	11
5.1. France	11
5.2. Germany	12
5.3. Russia	12
6.1. Italy	13
6.2. United Kingdom	13
7. Individual studies	13
8. Analysis. Evolution of ideas	14
9. Conclusions on the evolution of buildings	15
10. Requirements that led to the creation of a dedicated architectural program	for the archives
	15
11. A distinctive architectural identity	16
12. Specifics of archive buildings	17
12.1. Storage from light to dark	18
12.2. Are libraries the archetype of archive buildings?	19
13. Final considerations	19
14. Originality and innovative contributions of the thesis	21
Personal path and use of knowledge	21
Presentation of the results:	22
REFERENCES	23
Bibliography for specific research	35

1. Motivation for choosing the topic

This doctoral thesis studies archive buildings and the evolution of their architectural program in Romania and contextualized in Europe.

We chose this theme as a challenge, especially since we did not identify the existence of an elaborate study on these buildings, which would analyze their birth and evolution over a more extended period and consolidate the testing of constructive ideas, encompass several countries, integrate these buildings among architectural programs and be carried out by architects and from the perspective of this profession. Most of the identified works that were sources of information for this paper were by archivists and too few by architects. Therefore, we believe that not all the characteristics necessary to fit these buildings into a coherent architectural program have been defined. However, only the general conditions and considerations for organizing the spaces have been established.

In 2015, following an assignment within the Faculty of Architecture and Urbanism in Cluj-Napoca, I started thematic research at SJAN Alba. In addition to introducing me to the fascinating world of archives, this internship aimed to present various documents – written pieces, drawings, contracts, etc. – highlighting their importance for studying architectural history. In some cases, this research is most difficult, as the location of documents depends on several criteria. We believe this is due to the researcher's inspiration and tenacity and the custodian's goodwill. Ultimately, all these factors materialize in a step-by-step search in several archives.¹ This first contact with the Archives opened new perspectives for studying archive buildings. Later, for my dissertation and diploma thesis in architecture in 2018, defended in the same faculty, I chose the realization of a *Center for Archives and Architectural Culture*² as a topic. At that time, I encountered difficulties due to the complexity of the topic, as both time and available information were limited. Therefore, after graduating, I decided to continue and deepen the study of this topic within the framework of this PhD thesis.

The establishment of the theme was also influenced by the observation of a high number of archive buildings in Romania, for which complete information was not available at all. It needed to be made clear whether they were purpose-built or conversions.³ At first sight, these buildings seemed guided by a unitary, functional, and constructive logic. They were located in central areas, with compact volumes and similar façade aesthetics. These observations raised questions such as: When? How? Who? Why? Intentionally or unintentionally? were these buildings realized.

Thus, after seven years of research, we have found answers to these questions, whether complete or incomplete, and we have come to appreciate the subject even more due to its complexity and uniqueness. At this point, we do not consider the research exhausted, but we appreciate that the progress is significant enough to be presented in the form of a PhD thesis.

¹ The first stage clarifies the administrative-territorial unit to which the building belonged, the year of construction, the owner, the legal regime at the time of realization and its course, and the architect who designed it. In the second stage, we identify the archive where the building authorizations might be and ask to study it later. The information can be completed from the Land Register. In the third stage, the actual tracing of funds in the archive is started with the help of research tools, such as inventories and a search portal. These may belong to institutions: town halls, ministries, economic operators, businesses, and construction service providers, or individuals, the owners, or the architect.

² Maria Alexandra Sas, *Depozitul de arhivă*. *Arhitectură pentru hârtie* (lucrare de disertație, Facultatea de Arhitectură și Urbanism Cluj-Napoca, UTCN, 2018).

³ In some cases, the absence of the program's defining elements could lead to its classification in another category, such as office buildings, administration, education, etc.

The duration of the research was influenced, first of all, by the difficulties encountered along the way,⁴ which consisted in the lack of information or in the institutional blockage of access to it.

Secondly, the program and regulation of the National Archives study rooms during the Coronavirus pandemic changed. Not only was the documentation complicated due to the nature of the documents but the whole process was also made more difficult due to the limited number of researchers admitted into the study rooms. Hence, they operated on a program basis at half of their actual capacity at the territorial level and in the capital.

2. Defined objectives

The current research aimed to determine whether there has been an architectural program of the archives and whether it has been developed over time, with clearly determined essential criteria, or is a product of recent date – the 20th century; also, whether the buildings occupied have particular characteristics or are/can be standard buildings, by defining the main characteristics; to determine whether Romania fits into the European trend of development of this architectural program or not, and to confirm the link between libraries and archives, as an archetype, or the mutual influences between them.

Therefore, the objective of this paper was to study the archival buildings, the evolution of the architectural program in Romania, and its framing in the European context. Only state, national, departmental, and, with a few exceptions, municipal archives buildings were chosen for analysis, as they were the most complex in terms of organization and the largest in terms of the number of archives.

The surveyed area covered the following countries: Romania, France, Germany, Russia, Italy, Great Britain, Poland, Denmark, Norway, Norway, Slovakia and Austria.

Chronologically, the research covers the 18th to the 21st centuries and mentions earlier periods. However, these have been made only to provide context and are not consistently detailed or mentioned. We do not deny the existence, from an early date, of unique spaces⁵ or furniture⁶ for the preservation of documents. However, we had chosen this interval because we wish to follow the evolution of the program from the time when the first modern purpose-built buildings with more complex features were realized to the present when they had been concretized in a mature form.

3. Methodology of the research

The first research method chosen was diachronic analysis, as we studied changes and transitions over a period of several centuries. We considered this method appropriate because its tools facilitated our understanding of the dynamics of change over time and allowed us to identify architectural trends.

Therefore, in the first stage, the documentation focused on Romania, where there is a high number of buildings dedicated to archives. There is a possibility that Romania may or

⁴ Both for Romanian and European case studies.

⁵. For example, ceramic vases for papyrus, ladles, cabinets, etc.

⁶ The first rooms intended for conserving and preserving documents on a friable medium were found in temples. Given the sacredness of the space, they became a safe and secure place. Secondly, due to the good manners and education of the custodians—priests—they valued the value of documents. See, Sacerdoţeanu, Archivistics ..., p. 43

may not have been in tune with the European trends in the development of this architectural program, with the peak of these buildings being reached during the communist regime. Subsequently, to understand the European context and the evolution of this program and demonstrate Romania's position in a broader framework, we extended the second phase of the research to several European countries.

The second research method was applied by carrying out three experiments and four analyses, using paper as raw material, in accredited research laboratories. We opted for this option in order to demonstrate, on the one hand, the causal relationship between spaces and paper media and, on the other hand, the need to establish, create, and apply particular conditions to the repositories in order to fulfill their primary purpose, namely to contribute to the preservation of documents. Another aspect pursued was the certification of the specificity of architectural archives concerning other documents.

The paper is summarized using historical (the evolution of the architectural program of archives), descriptive (the characteristics of archival buildings), and experimental (laboratory experiments) research methods, conducting both individual and comparative case analyses.

4. Sources

For the primary sources, we used archival documents, discussions, or interviews with people involved in building construction. Several edited works, books and monographs, periodicals, regulations, legislative documents, and online sources were used as secondary sources.

Both architectural and archival works and literature from the communist era were considered, as the course of events had to be highlighted. In some cases, only data that could be corroborated with archival documents are presented.

The documentation was carried out in archives in the country (where we had access to unpublished documents) and in archives abroad; the paper presents information on the subject of archives, some of which is unknown until now and not yet part of any published research. Thus, they consisted of original documents or photocopies, drawings, photographs, video materials, and the written part of the projects, for which it was studied in:

- a. Archives in Romania: SANIC, SMBAN, CNSAS, SJANs, DMI, UAR, ANF, Sahia Film Archive, DJCS, "Ion Mincu" University, town halls, and local county councils.
- b. Archives abroad: Germany, Italy, France, Slovakia, Norway, Denmark, United Kingdom and Poland.

The architectural plans in the NRA could not be identified because they had been extracted from research and were classified as secret documents. There were also exceptional cases where facades, site plans, or photographs could be traced, but in minimal numbers. The plans identified can be found in Appendix 1 or Appendix 2.

The architectural plans in the NRA could not be identified because they were extracted from the research and classified as secret (s) or top secret (ss) documents. There were also exceptional cases where facades, site plans, or photographs could be traced, but in minimal numbers. The identified plans can be found in Appendix 1 or Appendix 2, depending on the subject (Appendix 1 contains the list of supporting illustrations for the thesis proper, and Appendix 2 contains the analysis sheets).

Several published works, books and monographs, periodicals, regulations, legislative documents, and online sources were used as secondary sources.

Since the course of events had to be highlighted, we considered architectural and archival works as well as literature from the communist era. In some cases, we only presented data that could be corroborated with archival documents.

A problem for the Russian case study was the lack of sources in published works by scholars other than Russian scholars. This lack of scholarly literature was felt in the attempt to establish the realities analyzed accurately. As a result of the present outbreak of war, access to archival documents was limited, and data could not be correlated, with a few small exceptions.

5. Previous research on the topic

Previous research has focused on the partial treatment of the subject, covering narrow time scales, described in general terms without presenting developments, or illustrated only specific buildings. This research has been influenced by the specializations of the authors, most of whom were historians and archivists, and with a few exceptions, architects. There is a difference between the two specializations in how the analyses are carried out due to the methodology and tools available to each specialization, which makes it essential to clarify the position of architects on the problem. Among the most representative works by **archivists and historians are**: Luigi Bossi Visconti in *Istruzioni sugli archivi e la loro regolamentazione* (1807), Eugenio Cassanova in *Arhivistica* (1918; 2nd ed. 1928); the Russian archivists' collective⁷ in *Normele de bază în munca Arhivelorelorelor de Stat Stat of the USSR* (1962); Michel Duchein in *Archives Buildings and equipment* (1966; 2nd ed. 1988); Aurelian Sacerdoțeanu in *Arhivistica* (1970); Christopher Kitching, Archive buildings in the United Kingdom 1977-1992 (1977; 2nd ed. 1993); Direction des archives de Frances, *Bâtiments d'archives. Vingt ans d'architecture française*. 1965-1985, 1986-2003 (1986, 2nd ed. 2004);

Among the works by architects we mention: Ludwig Klasenn in *Archive und Bibliotheken, Gebäude Für kunst und wissenschaft* (1887); Opfermann, Rudolf, in *Archive und Bibliotheken, Gebäude Für erziehung, wissenschaft und kunst* (1893/1906); Alevtina Mijhailovna Zhugastr-Lushina, *Archive Buildings Abroad* (1974).

The collaborative works by specialists in the two fields are fewer and more recent: Michel F. Pacifico, Thomas P. Wilsted in *Archival and special collections facilities: guidelines for archivists, librarians, architects and engineers* (2009), Standard Internațional ISO 11799, *Document storage requirements for archive and library materials* (2015); International Organization for Standardization, Technical Report 19815 *Management of the environmental conditions for archive and library collections* (2018); German Standards Institute 67700:2017-05, *Bau von Bibliotheken und Archiven*, (2017) etc.

These works reflect intermittent and pragmatic concerns over the centuries. However, it is only in the 21st century that detailed analyses of the history of these buildings have begun to be analyzed in detail. Notable in this regard is the 2008 publication of the doctoral thesis *Architektur und Geschichte der staatlichen Archivzweckbauten in Deutschland* 1871-1945 by art historian Kaţja Leiskau, and these buildings are also mentioned in Ernst Neufert's 2012 edited and expanded book, where the Dresden Archive is presented in the libraries section.⁸

⁷ The authors of the work are not specified individually in either the original document or in the translated versions, as these rules were established by a group of specialists under the aegis of the State Archives of the Union of Soviet Socialist Republics (USSR).

⁸ Ernst Neufert, *Architects' Data* (Hoboken: Wiley, 2012), p. 252.

6. Difficulties

The research had an oscillating path due to the difficulties of mediation between the State Institutions and us as researchers. Thus, we encountered limited access to the study in several public institutions, even for archives over 30 years old, or refusal to provide information that we considered public interest. The fact that some institutions responded and others did not to requests based on Law 544/2001, in the same case, shows the fragility of the legal framework in Romania and its arbitrary interpretation. We encountered total opacity in the case of the MAI Archives. Failing to comply with the provisions of the National Archives Law on the MAI's handing over to the NA archives older than 30 years will perpetuate censorship in the study of any realities of the communist period in which the MAI was involved. Another blocking aspect consisted of keeping (or invoking) the classification level for a whole series of documents, some of them not even actual but "forgotten" in the "secret" status. We should also not forget the destruction or vandalizing of some of the important archives of the communist period, such as that of the architectural institutes, which bear witness, once again, to the chaos represented by the beginnings of the post-Decembrist regime in Romania and the disinterest in public assets produced during the communist period.

The procedure of these archival buildings in Romania for the authorization of constructions was changed along the way, for this reason we were only able to identify the authorizations and part of the documentation in a few exceptional cases.

Subsequently, in some situations, the legal framework entitled us as a petitioner and research could be carried out. Thus, about 45,000 files from more than 50 fonds were studied and scanned in the Romanian archives and accreditation among CNSAS researchers was obtained.

The case studies used a unitary analysis structure. However, due to the diversity of information and the need to present specific data relevant to understanding the topic, we have adapted the structure according to each case's specifics.

Regarding the European case studies, they would have deserved to be extended to other countries. However, due to documentation difficulties and legislative differences (in the case of the Vatican),⁹ we restricted the scope according to their relevance, limiting ourselves to obtaining the necessary information from the countries we considered most relevant without continuing the dialog with the others. Some responded either evasively (Italy) or not at all (Sweden). We were also constrained by the amount of information that could be processed in a limited time. Thus, the shortcomings of the present research have a common point, both for Romania and for Europe: insufficient access to documentation to a variable extent.

7. Structure of the thesis

This thesis consists of 3 parts:

Part I: Theoretical Framework, includes three chapters:

Chapter 1 - Definition of concepts

Chapter 2 - Study methods and contextual framework

Chapter 3 - The need for appropriate document repositories

Part II: Case Studies, includes five chapters

_

⁹ For unjustified reasons, we have not received any information that would confirm the number of buildings used or the year of realization of the underground storage (Annex 4—Supporting documents).

Chapter 4 - The evolution of archive buildings in Romania

Chapter 5 - Development of archive buildings in France, Germany, and Russia

Chapter 6 - The development of archive buildings in Italy and Great Britain

Chapter 7 - Individual studies. Particular cases in Poland, Romania, Denmark, Norway, Slovakia and Austria

Chapter 8 - Cross-country comparative analysis, evolution of ideas

Part III: Considerations, includes five chapters

Chapter 9 - Conclusions on the evolution of realized purpose-built buildings

Chapter 10 - Requirements that led to the creation of an architectural program dedicated to archives

Chapter 11 - Determining a specific architectural identity

Chapter 12 - Specific features of archive buildings

Chapter 13 - Final Considerations

Annexes

Annex 1 - Figures, tables, graphs

Annex 2 - Analysis sheets

Annex 3 - Applied research

Annex 4 - Supporting documents,

Presentation

The paper is structured in three parts and subdivided into 13 chapters. Many ancillary materials (architectural plans, photographs, illustrations, supporting documents) and analysis sheets are presented in the form of Appendices (1-4), providing visual and detailed support for the thesis content.

Part I

The first part consists of three chapters that present the theoretical framework and the current context. Therefore, the basic concepts and terms have been defined since the word "archive" can have several meanings, and the relationship between architecture and archival science, an auxiliary science of history, is also presented. (Chapter 1).

Chapter 2 presents the research methods used, defines the area studied, the period studied between the 18th and 21st centuries, and the level of knowledge in the existing literature at the time of the research (Chapter 2).

Chapter 3 presents an alternative research method (to the historical one) based on testing in an accredited institute and laboratory. This method was chosen following preliminary research carried out between 2022-2023. The objects under examination were personal architectural plans made at the end of my university studies 2018. On the one hand, they showed visible changes in the support, and on the other hand, they were subjected to oscillating microclimate conditions (sample B 2018). For comparison, we printed a project plan (sample A 2023) under the same conditions and type of paper support.

¹⁰ As an external consultant in the context of the collaboration with the National Archives (2022-2023), I had the opportunity to carry out a series of data analyses on documentary support and microclimate conditions. The data from that research cannot be published. Later, as a fellow of the InoHubDoc program, organized by the Technical University of Cluj-Napoca (2022-2023), I carried out applied research, the result of which can be studied in Appendix 3.

Both samples (A) (2023) and (B) (2018) were exposed:

- a) First, SEM-EDX and FTIR were analyzed at the Institute in Iasi in the initial phase, preceded by the accelerated aging experiment. Subsequently, after aging, SEM-EDX¹¹ and FTIR ¹²analyses were resumed to compare the effects with the initial samples.
- b) Secondly, the following experiments were carried out at the Physical-Mechanical Testing Laboratory in Brăila: tear strength and bending strength.¹³

The conclusions of the investigations carried out at the Iasi Institute showed that:

- a.1. on the basis of SEM-EDX analysis in the initial phase no major morphological changes are observed.
- a.2. based on FTIR analysis between the samples, there were no essential changes in the chemical composition from a qualitative point of view.
- a.3. After the application of the accelerated aging process, the results showed that:
 - a.3.1. SEM-EDX analysis confirmed the onset of the degradation process for both samples.
 - a.3.2. FTIR analysis showed no changes between the two samples.

The conclusions of the investigations in the Physical-Mechanical Testing Laboratory showed that:

- b.1. Tear strength analysis shows no significant differences between specimens (A) and (B) appeared between specimens. The values determined were that sample (A) resisted 4% more than (B).
- b.2. Bending strength analysis shows that sample (B) has lost 50% of its strength compared to sample (A), ¹⁴ which in 5 years is very much. ¹⁵

These paper-based experiments first confirmed that there is an evident influence between the environmental conditions of space and the documents preserved. Second, they indicate a specificity of architectural archives compared to other archives. These, under the medium used, present significant vulnerabilities for long-term preservation due to the format of the plates, the quality of the paper, ¹⁶ and the frequent or occasional folding process to which the documents are subjected during research (which involves exerting mechanical forces on them).

Part II

In order to analyze and verify how archival buildings constitute themselves as an architectural program at the European level in a concrete manner, we decided to carry out particular research following the evolution of these buildings in several countries.

¹¹ Scanning Electron Microscopy examines the surface and structure of the paper at the microscopic level. Together with Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy, it can analyze the chemical composition of the paper, identifying the presence of different elements, contaminants, additives, etc. Annex 3.

¹² Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy is applied to the paper to identify and characterize the chemical compounds present. Annex 3.

¹³ The paper bend strength test evaluates the paper's ability to withstand repeated bending without tearing. This test is essential to determine the durability and quality of paper under frequent handling conditions.

¹⁴ Annex 3

 $^{^{15}}$ The entire process of analysis, preparation, screening, and laboratory procedure is outlined in Annex 3.

¹⁶ Because it is a special type of paper, manufacturers do not specify compliance with ISO 11108:1996, *Information and documentation—Archival paper—Requirements for permanence and durability,* International Standard (1996).

In order to study the evolution of the architectural program of the archives as objectively as possible at the European level, we have focused our attention on France, Germany, Russia, Italy, Great Britain, Poland, Slovakia, Norway, Denmark, Austria, and the United Kingdom.¹⁷ These countries were selected based on two criteria. First, countries were selected where a specialized literature¹⁸ was developed, and either a more significant number of buildings were realized or exciting and innovative solutions were realized. Behind these considerations were the concerns of archivists about the preservation conditions and characteristics of the buildings, as they were a trigger in the architectural development of these buildings. Secondly, the influence these countries had on each other, whether assumed or not, was essential.

The case studies are presented and organized in four categories between chapters 4-6:

- a) In the first section, the one dedicated to Romania, a detailed presentation of the situation of the archives has been elaborated because this case study was the main reason for starting the present research. Secondly, the spectacular evolution and the main triggering factors led to the realization of particular projects at the European level (implemented or not). Thirdly, their research brought to light some new information, some of which is also presented in Annex 2 as fact sheets (Chapter 4).
- b) I carried out an elaborate analysis, over a longer time span, of the archives of France, Germany, and Russia. Within these countries a large number of edifices have been developed, and there are particularities and implications which we considered relevant to present in an extended way. The countries have been organized alphabetically. (Chapter 5)
- c) I have carried out a more synthetic analysis for Italy and Great Britain because within them, although conversions predominated, a small number of purposebuilt buildings with important characteristics were also realized. Countries have been organized alphabetically (Chapter 6)
- d) I have carried out punctual and synthetic country reviews, from which we have selected only one example. Poland, Denmark, Norway, Norway, Slovakia, and Austria; as an exception, we also presented an example from Romania. Countries were organized according to chronological criteria (Chapter 7)

For Chapters 4-6, I have also developed a chronological graphical study of the second half of the 20th century. I have chosen this interval because I consider it the most relevant due to the number of buildings still in existence, the topicality and innovation of the solutions, and the repercussions these cases have had on archival architecture in this century.

_

¹⁷ Belgium, the Netherlands, Spain, Greece, Portugal, Ukraine, Bulgaria, Hungary, and Serbia could be added to these lists. However, for the moment, the materials from these countries are not collected and processed in their entirety, and discussions with representatives of the National Archives have not materialized to identify the documentation and obtain copies in digital format. Therefore, we have limited ourselves to those countries whose materials could be processed and corroborated with other information from several sources.

¹⁸ Luciana Duranti, in her *Encyclopedia of Archival Writers* 1515-2015, makes a selection of the leading archival authors based on several criteria: the relevance of their studies, their accessibility, and their agreement - in the case of those who are still alive, etc. They have selected archival writers from all continents, although perhaps for subjective reasons with regret, there is a reluctance to choose Eastern European countries. Thus, an impressive number of European archivists from France, Germany, Italy, and Great Britain - as well as the Netherlands and Spain- are mentioned.

4. Romania

In Romania, the first initiatives to realize purpose-built buildings for archives came about due to the Organic Regulations, which marked the transition of Romanian society to modernity.¹⁹ However, in the 19th century, although there were several such initiatives, only conversions were implemented, mainly in monasteries. Towards the end of the 19th century, the State Archives institution had a favorable context to have a dedicated general headquarters in Bucharest. However, the project was not realized for economic and probably political reasons.

In the 20th century, we have witnessed a paradigm shift. First of all, in the first part of the century, the general headquarters in Bucharest was built in stages, therefore improving the conditions for preservation. With the reunification of Romania, the first purpose-built building for the archives of the city hall and the Saxon University in Sibiu was finalized, and construction started when Transylvania belonged to the Dualist Empire. Secondly, with the establishment of the communist regime, a series of events ²⁰ had a significant impact on the development of the architectural program of the archives and the institution. As a result, three standardized²¹ projects were realized, 27 purpose-built archive buildings were constructed in the territory since 1959, several unimplemented projects for a dedicated general headquarters were realized, and significant contributions to the archival theory were made.

Romania excelled at the European level for several reasons: the uniqueness of the 19th-century solutions, the variety of approaches and constructions realized in the 20th century, with both special projects (for the general headquarters and the territorial headquarter) and the standardized ones, which were unique solutions at the European level, as well as the monumental artworks. In addition, the subsequent modification of the later standardized designs resulted in several buildings with similar characteristics not identified with the original standardized designs. The organization of a single service (MAI-ST) to deal with the projects may have given the projects a unified note, with a small number of architects dealing with the projects. Along the way, there was a depreciation in the quality of the solutions implemented based on the projects, with the peak of the most successful projects being reached between 1967 and 1972. In the 21st century, the number of state archive constructions has decreased, with more private-sector ones developing. They differ from the buildings of the previous century in the sites selected, the building materials used, and the simplified functional scheme.

5.1. France

France was characterized by fluctuating development in the 19th century, preceded by a meteoric rise in the second half of the 20th century with many buildings.

The first purpose-built 19th-century buildings in Europe were built in France. They can be categorized more as hybrid projects because planimetrically, volumetrically, principally, and aesthetically, they were a fusion of Italian Renaissance dwellings, French chateaux, and libraries. Later, French architects and archivists sought solutions without understanding all the implications. They made excessive use of reinforced concrete, both for the construction of buildings and for shelving.

In the second half of the 20th century, France stood out at the European level not only for the most significant number of achievements in 50 years (with at least 103 buildings) but

²⁰ Change of the supervisory minister, development of theoretical work

¹⁹ Sas, Sediul Arhivelor Statului ...,pp. 40-51

²¹ One by Director Aurelian Sacerdoţeanu and two by IPCT Institute

also for the marked discrepancy between the practical approach to the actual construction and the theoretical approach, as realized by the archivist Michel Duchein.

Tower-type solutions have been the particular solution for French archive buildings, opening the administrative area more to the public and deciding to abandon the old headquarters. Different architects realized a considerable proportion of the projects.

The French experience has been significant throughout the history of this program, both on the constructive (architecture) and theoretical (archival) sides.

5.2. Germany

The core of the idea and the first practical realizations of archive buildings were realized in Germany at the end of the 18th century, and they were further developed and perfected. In the nineteenth century, various planimetric, volumetric, and constructional solutions were studied and implemented to realize buildings, new materials, and equipment. Typical for Germany were the solutions in which the two primary functions were divided into one volume for administration and another for storage. All these aspects in the 19th century made Germany a model for other European countries to follow and analyze. In the 20th century, they kept the main features developed in the previous century, continuing to perfect the architectural program of the archives by optimizing the flow optimization and using reinforced concrete much more rationally than the French. However, it was difficult to control the occupancy intervals of the repositories, as the time in which the take-up reserve was exhausted was limited, and it was also challenging to control immediately after the repositories were put into use.

The basic concepts developed in the German Empire, particularly from the 18th to 20th centuries, significantly influenced the architectural program of archives in this territory and beyond, contributing not only to the constructive (architecture) but also to the theoretical (architecture and archival) side.

5.3. Russia²²

Similar to other European archives, Russia's case shows the dynamics of archival constructions and archival ideas developed through practical experiments and borrowings from other European countries. The first building was built at the end of the 19th century, and later in the 20th century, special projects (in the capital and the main cities) and standard projects (for the cities in the territory) were realized.

The specific element of Russia was provided by the standardization of projects (with a distinct resolution compared to Romania) realized in the second part of the 20th century. The projects present a rigorous architectural program of a very large scale, with clearly delimited flows and limited spaces intended for the public. It was not possible to determine the number of buildings constructed due to the difficulty of documentation, but it was possible to study some of the projects. In the twenty-first century, the integration of technological solutions to streamline storage and archival practice has also been a particular issue.

The solutions realized by Russian architects are, in fact, the "ideal solution" for these buildings through standardization, as the essential criteria of archival buildings must prevail over architectural creativity. Standardization thus contributes both to reducing costs and to

_

²² Research on the evolution of archival constructions on the territory of the current Russian Federation has been a major challenge, both due to the language barrier, prejudices, and the current political context, which has made it particularly difficult to collaborate and access documentary or professional archival materials.

achieving the primary purpose of the buildings, whatever the century, precisely to provide security and safety.

6.1. Italy

Italian archivists have distinguished themselves over the years for their numerous theoretical works, their perfect practice of the profession, and their long tradition of this. However, the institution's policy was based on conversions, as there was the availability of a vast built fund, and therefore, the realization of purpose-built ones was resorted to only in exceptional circumstances.

In the second half of the 20th-century, several purpose-built buildings were built, not because of the change in the State's outlook but because of the man-made and natural hazards that had affected the old sites. Although few in number, the designs followed the principles proposed by the Italian archival literature to a great extent, which set them apart from other European archive buildings.

The archive buildings in Italy were characterized by a recognizable pattern due to the intersection of flows, the limitation of escape routes, and the elevation of the first-floor slab, but without a basement or basement and the solution of concealed roofs.

Therefore, archive buildings in Italy were more cultural than administrative and rigid, probably due to their small size. The contribution of archival theory to this architectural program was one of the most important, having been realized as early as the 19th-century.

6.2. United Kingdom

Archive buildings in the UK have not excelled to set an example for other countries. In addition to unfavorable climate, they have hampered microclimate control and physical security by being positioned on unfavorable plots near water. Purpose-built buildings were realized in the second part of the 20th century; until then, predominantly conversions. With a few exceptions, the facades' volumetry and plasticity fell into the residential dwellings category, as the maximum height was P+2E, the roof was of the hipped type, the surfaces were brick-faced, and the warehouses had window openings.

The organization of the warehouses differs from that in other countries due to their small surface areas and their organization in rows.

However, the report by archivists and conservators on the conservation and research side has set a positive example, and the results have sparked international interest with the realization of the BS 5454:1977 standard, which other countries have invoked.

7. Individual studies

After reviewing the evolution of the architectural program of the Archives in Europe in detail or in general, we consider it worthwhile to analyze some particular cases. ²³

The selected examples were characterized by the rarity of the projects at the time of their realization, the fact that they were headquarters for central archives in the countries where they were realized,²⁴ and the accessibility of the information and plans. As they were headquarters, this made the projects grandiose regarding the financial availability of the lots

²³ In Poland - Warsaw; Romania - Bucharest; Slovakia - Bratislava; Norway - Oslo and Denmark - Copenhagen.

²⁴ With one exception: the Copenhagen building.

received and the design challenges. For this reason, they were all featured in the specialized literature of either their home countries or the international literature, which gave them an added asset of visibility and relevance in the archive-building niche.

The central buildings present the most complex functional schemes in terms of architectural programs. In addition to the large storage capacity of the laboratory areas, they had to allocate a variety of spaces on a larger scale for the public.

Although these projects were realized in the second half of the 20th century and were based on the same, individualized design requirements (depending on budget, location, height regime and identified solutions), they differed. The buildings show a varied range of solutions, both above and below ground, which in fact illustrates the ingenuity with which the program can be applied while keeping its basic purpose.

8. Analysis. Evolution of ideas

The first archive buildings were constructed in Germany in the 18th century. Later, in the first part of the 19th century, the French took up the concept of these buildings and tried to develop them, but without clearly defining all the essential ideas. We believe that their excessive orientation towards libraries may have distracted them from the fundamental aims of providing safe custody and facilitating the work of archivists, which had different implications from that of librarians. Nonetheless, the warehouses' far too high heights made this difficult, and the heavy stone and brick structures could threaten the integrity of the documents and the safety of the occupants.

In the second half of the nineteenth century, projects dedicated exclusively to archives were revived in the German-speaking world, and architects and archivists could define all the essential aspects of an archive building. Their ability to understand and respond to all the security needs of archives could be attributed to their experience in archival practice, which is considered specific.

The series of implemented and non-implemented projects realized in Europe since the 19th century gives us an insight into how the concepts of these buildings have been pursued between different countries and how they have complemented each other. Two categories of archive building projects have been distinguished: the first for general headquarters, which are more prominent in scale, and the second for departmental, regional, or city headquarters, which are smaller than the first.

The first buildings adopted compact solutions in terms of function organization, meaning that all functions were integrated into a single building volume. Later, the concept of division into distinct building blocks according to functional specificities was developed. The reasons for this separation could be security and safety reasons; later, other benefits were identified.

The plasticity of the surfaces evolved gradually but in a concrete form recognizable as belonging to the archives, which was realized in the second part of the 20th century and the beginning of the 21st-century. Robust volumes with simple and sober facades became the distinctive features of these buildings. In Romania and Russia, a particular feature of these buildings was realized by applying monumental artwork to the facades.

With the birth of the first buildings in the 19th century, a meaningful exchange of ideas occurred between countries. We believe this transfer was visible from France²⁵ to Germany and was not reciprocal. The French start was promising, but the journey was difficult and centered more on innovation and uniqueness, which proved difficult to manage.

²⁵ The concept of inhabitation and division of functions into distinct buildings.

The 20th-century was the period of maturation of the archives' architectural program. With the construction of many buildings, basic concepts were either developed, neglected, and misinterpreted, or new ones were identified. What is certain is that the way of organization and functioning has improved compared to previous centuries.

In conclusion, the present study makes it clear that modern archives, in a mature form, came into being in the second half of the 20th century through the research and experimentation of each country, and this has continued into the first two decades of the 21st century.

Part III

Part III comprises five chapters, each intended to present the conclusions through-out different aspects of the research.

9. Conclusions on the evolution of buildings

Even though the first archival buildings were built at the end of the 18th century and numerous archival buildings were constructed in the 19th century, the period of maturation of the architectural program of the archives took place in the 20th century. This century saw significant improvements over the previous centuries for a number of reasons, but the main ones were to improve the conditions of preservation and storage and increase the capacity of the repositories.

Every government or state, regardless of the century, has been and remains objective in constructing buildings that are optimal from all perspectives, which presents new challenges for architects today

The evolution of this program is not yet fully completed, as each century has brought new challenges. We are only in the first quarter of it, already witnessing significant climate change, diverse documentary media, and natural and artificial threatens.²⁶ These issues will make demands distinct from those of previous centuries and lead to new solutions.

10. Requirements that led to the creation of a dedicated architectural program for the archives

At an early stage, the principles for organizing spaces and buildings for archival storage were identified empirically through immediate implementation and experimentation. These principles have been selected and refined over time, influenced by the needs identified by archival practice and by trends and approaches specific to particular jurisdictions affected by political or territorial changes. Initially, the repositories resulted from conversions, and only later, from the second half of the 18th century, were purpose-built buildings. Regardless of the circumstances, the construction and layout requirements were applied equally.

The first requirement was the accumulation of records in an organized manner, whether for administration or personal purposes. Initially, the reason for keeping documents was for administrative-territorial legitimacy and for determining and protecting property rights. Later, this custom also took on cultural significance, with documents used for historical research.

 $^{^{26}}$ We refer to the collapse of the archives in Köln, the archives being affected by fires, or the recent war.

The second requirement developed from a certain level of document accumulation when the intuition of putting documents aside was no longer sufficient to allow their retrieval over time. As a result, norms and rules of organization began to take shape through the theoretical work of archival application. At the same time, the main characteristics of the premises and buildings were consolidated. Thus, the documents had to be organized, and the premises had to be protected from natural and man-made threats.

The third requirement specific to archives was the speed of occupation of storage space. Social development intensified administrative and legal activities, which led to increased documentary production and more significant archival accumulations.

These three requirements have, over time, led to the development of basic rules and principles, which have gradually led to the development of a specific archival architecture.

In our opinion, the first requirement determined establishing a hierarchy of spaces by outlining the two significant areas, namely the area for working/using documents and the actual area for keeping documents.

The second requirement led to the obligation to insulate spaces or buildings to ensure security and safety. Using fireproof building materials and adopting construction solutions to support the primary purpose and ensure their resistance and protection over time was essential. In addition, especially with the development of archives as institutions of memory, the aim was to identify the most advantageous and safe solutions concerning populated areas, allowing isolation and corresponding to the critical status of the function.

The third requirement was to select or dimension the premises according to the volume of documents held, plus a reserve of space for future retrievals, which had to be taken into account.

These requirements were the foundation on which the architectural program of modern archives was built. Their legitimacy has been earned by their recurrence in every century between the 18th and 21st centuries, and they are found in varying degrees in all converted or purpose-built archive buildings.

11. A distinctive architectural identity

We believe that the distinct architectural identity of the archive buildings has been formed by integrating specialists from the two fields of architecture and archival design. On the one hand, architects focused on combining particular design principles with other programs adapted to the needs and specificity of these buildings.²⁷ On the other hand, the archivists aimed to implement features that would provide exemplary conservation and preservation of documents.²⁸ Accordingly, the two specialties have actively worked together, giving rise, both in terms of ideas and implementation, to buildings that are unique in terms of their functionality, construction, volumetric, and aesthetic features.

From a functional point of view, the architectural program of the archives is made up of fundamental zones and flows specific to each type of user – archivists and researchers. The fundamental areas are divided into two main categories: the first is dedicated to storing the documents themselves, and the second to administration.

The relationship between the administrative and storage areas is realized through circulation flows that serve four basic specific circuits: documents and their internal

²⁸ Temperature, humidity, respecting flows, the compatibility of the solutions proposed by architects with their activities.

²⁷ Isolation from other buildings, the use of wood to a lesser extent or its exclusion altogether, the determination of large storage spaces, but at the same time structurally adequate, the respect of the flows of each zone and the avoidance of undesirable intersections, etc.

preparatory flow; the transfer of documents from storage to the study room, personnel activity, and lastly, for researchers. For a proper resolution of the flows, the first two should not interfere with the last one to meet security requirements.

From a construction point of view, the storage and administration areas are similar in terms of construction materials, techniques, and methods used. Structural elements and building systems are recommended to be treated differently to endure the demands,²⁹ meet storage conditions, and save money and space. The storage area must, therefore, be standardized in a particular way to withstand the loads of documents.

From a volumetric point of view, the easiest solution is to divide the two areas into different volumes due to the functional characteristics and constructive elements. The volume related to storage is massive due to its size, and it can have a varied height regime from P+4E4E/9E.³⁰ It is recommended that the volumes be solved compactly, either one or several.

The administrative area is more restrained, has a reduced gauge, and falls within a volume regime limited to a maximum of P+2E, which can be resolved compactly or not.

From an aesthetic point of view, the two areas are solved differently, as the utilitarian purpose is given priority over the aesthetic one. To balance specific internal conditions concerning costs, solutions that imply a functional benefit of these buildings are selected, and then their consumerization is sought through finishes.

We conclude that the four criteria analyzed establish a particular architectural identity of the archive buildings in relation to other programs.

12. Specifics of archive buildings

The specificity of the architectural program of the archives is mainly defined by the storage space since, as mentioned above, it occupies the most space allocated for the whole building. The characteristics that this area must meet determine the choice of solutions for all the other elements of the program.

Three basic principles have been outlined for the location of these buildings: safety, expandability, and accessibility—both to the public, staff, and firefighters in case of emergencies. On a case-by-case basis, these buildings can be located in urban centers, on the outskirts of urban centers, or in rural areas close to major thoroughfares.

In order to respect the principle of isolation between the warehouses and the administration and thus ensure security and safety, these areas may be organized horizontally in at least ten different typologies. These typologies are: 'Z,' 'O', 'T,' 'H,' 'L,' 'I,' 'U,' and 'E,' point and irregular configurations by juxtaposing several variants. In vertical organizations, various variables also arise, primarily related to the location of the storage area above or below ground. Once this location has been determined, there may be at least six additional organizational options.

Buildings and equipment, 2nd revised and enlarged Edition, Munchen, De Gruyter, 1988, pp.137-138.

There are cases of taller buildings already built, but the general average stops at nine floors, probably because of the substantial loads and the costs involved in a higher height regime.

²⁹ From this point of view, there is an antithesis because documents are considered to be payloads of a temporary nature when, in fact, they occupy the spaces intended for them permanently. From a structural point of view, this aspect requires particular attention, as the building must withstand its weight, plus that of the documents. On average, a ml of archive is 50 kg, and a m3 of archive is 600 kg. As the constant loads make these buildings more susceptible to subsidence, which can result from dynamic stresses (earthquakes or uneven subsidence), particular care must be taken in selecting and determining appropriate solutions. *See* Michel Duchein, Archives

Several factors influence the determination of the storage area. On the one hand, there is the protection and limitation of the spread of fires, the maintenance of the microclimate, the restriction of the spread of pests, and their organization according to the graphical support. On the other hand, the recommended average surface area of 200-300 sq.m. is a structural, organizational, and economic advantage. In this situation, it is advisable to identify an ideal construction mode that satisfies all these requirements, mediating in a balanced way all the factors that may influence the security and integrity of the documents, balanced with the financial return.

Not every type of space lends itself to this purpose, and the occupancy coefficient of the space (ml/sq.m.) can determine whether a solution is more or less economically advantageous. In the case of the second option, this can limit the building's useful life, a phenomenon increasingly common in this century.

One of the characteristics of buildings built in previous centuries (the need for buildings to expand over time, which gave them a dynamic character) will gradually migrate from this century towards a static character. This is due to changes in the information medium of documents, from analog to digital, which will no longer involve significant paper takeovers of documents by archives. We believe that attention will focus primarily on improving the existing buildings or replacing them with new, economically efficient, and environmentally sustainable ones. They will be able to be sized for a finite and determined volume of archives, designed to limit maintenance and staffing costs and to make document preservation more efficient. Since all documents of a permanent nature must continue to be kept, even if there are digital copies of them, the conditions for their preservation must be appropriate.

A new category of repositories, the server repository, has been developed. Their characteristics are particular due to their number,³¹ location,³² and microclimate conditions.

Therefore, archives' development is not at a standstill. From an architectural point of view, we believe that the organization of the functional scheme of an archival building is not yet definitive and that this century may witness a new phase of metamorphosis.

12.1. Storage from light to dark

The level of protection offered by purpose-built archive buildings has developed in parallel with identifying new types of risks. While initially, one of the primary concerns was protection from water or fire, the conflagrations of the 20th century revealed the risks of war. The latter led to experimentation with underground storage. During the Second World War, probably due to the already built bunkers, this option began to be considered, but it had to be perfected and adapted by architects. Identifying the conditions that would make underground storage possible without damaging the archive was important.

The Swedish architects researched construction options that would lend themselves to this solution. They later advised Norwegian architects.³³

After this constructive possibility was presented internationally and its effectiveness demonstrated, it was embraced by other countries for various reasons, such as responding to

_

³¹ There are three: one master and two children.

³² Servers containing the backups must be located in other geographical areas to ensure security.

³³ The first building is considered to be the Stockholm Stadsarkivet Kungsklippan. The project was selected based on a competition in 1940. In 1943, the warehouses were completed and inaugurated, but the administrative area was not completed until 1959. Stadsarkivets byggnader, Stadsarkivet Kungsklippan, published October 4, 2023, https://stadsarkivet.stockholm/stadsarkivets-uppdrag/stadsarkivets-byggnader/, (accessed January 5, 2024).

the constraints of limited height sites, low terrain, or proximity to historical monuments; their massiveness was a visually disturbing factor.

Later, in the 21st century, this type of solution became compatible with the principles of energy sustainability. The possibility of keeping the internal temperature constant with the limited use of auxiliary equipment has influenced this solution's value without war and other site conditions.

Regardless of the climatic regime and depth underground, we have identified several essential features based on realizations in this niche solution. The first feature relates to protecting the repository walls from direct contact with the ground in two aspects. The second element is the exclusive use of reinforced concrete diaphragms for all walls. The third essential element concerns the absence or presence of thermal insulation; this is questionable. The fourth element is the existence of two escape routes: one elevator for documents and one for staff. The fifth element stipulates the possibility of being located totally or partially underground, from which solutions may be derived.

Therefore, moving the repository from light (above ground) to dark (underground), as radical or costly as it may seem as an initial investment, may, over time, be the optimal solution for preservation.

12.2. Are libraries the archetype of archive buildings?

Due to the concept of paper preservation, whether publicly accessible or not and their categorization as information programs, the two architectural programs of libraries and archives have been considered similar.

Both programs shared several characteristics, as well as numerous distinguishing features.

Undoubtedly, the two programs that developed in parallel influenced each other; however, they individualized and adapted to the specific requirements and needs of each. Thus, we are of the opinion that libraries do not constitute the general archetype of archival buildings but only those in 19^{th} -century France.

13. Final considerations

The archival architectural program emerged due to the need to retrieve and process documents, regardless of the medium. The general principles established at an early stage have been maintained and refined over time, leading to continuous development in the present day. Although initially, buildings with other essential functions were used, later on, the amount of archival material collected, followed by the restrictions that these buildings had to fulfill, as well as the specific needs, led to the construction of purpose-built ones. These buildings were not accidental or isolated achievements, a fact confirmed by the functional, constructive, volumetric, and aesthetic criteria that have defined them over the centuries and have led to the establishment of a particular architectural identity for archive buildings.

The core of the idea and the first practical implementations of archive buildings were realized in Germany at the end of the 18th century and later developed and perfected. During the 19th century, when the first buildings were realized in several countries, the exchange of ideas was visible, as confirmed by the study visits and the solutions adopted. The period of maturation of the architectural program of the Archives was achieved in the 20th century, with improvements compared to the previous century for several reasons. These have been realized through each country's contribution to research and experimentation, with no one

country being defined as the primary source. However, the evolution of the archival architectural program is not yet finalized because even though we are only in the first quarter of the 21st century, we are already witnessing new solutions. Several different considerations have determined these, and it is possible that we will witness a new phase of metamorphosis in the future.

The significant events that influenced the development and course were the first forms of state organization, world conflagrations, the creation of the international organization CIA, political regimes, and the financial resources allocated to the archival institutions.

Long-term trends have shown an increase in the number of buildings in each country studied, whether due to particular causes or not. These buildings differ in several aspects, both functional, constructive, and aesthetic.

Romania stood out at the European level for several reasons: the uniqueness of the 19th-century solutions, the variety of approaches and constructions realized in the 20th century, with special projects (for both the general headquarters and the territorial headquarters) and standardized ones, which were unique solutions at the European level, and monumental artworks.

The present study confirms the existence of purpose-bult buildings with particular characteristics in each of the countries studied. The common feature was the purpose of the buildings – to preserve, conserve, and facilitate public access to documents – as well as the circulation of ideas, which contributed to creating a standard basis. This is validated by the fact that we identify the same functional organizational errors in different countries, or after a publicized achievement in one country, the same principles are soon applied in other countries.

By far, Romania's connection to the European current of this architectural program can be distinguished and attested from the very first phases. Moreover, it brings together the most varied number of approaches and particularities. Therefore, we believe that the present work has brought essential additions to the previous research through the unpublished information, the research method, and the definition of the architectural program of the archives in the history of archival and architectural history.

As for the relationship between archives and libraries, we believe that, while there is undoubtedly a mutual influence between the two programs, they are individualized and adapted to the specific requirements and needs of each. Moreover, archives have been accumulated and organized much earlier than the emergence of the first book repositories, but the public visibility of the latter has been more significant. This uneven progress on different parameters may have led to inaccuracy in specifying the archetypes of the two programs. In our opinion, however, the origin of the universal architectural program of archives is not to be found in the library program but only in the French solutions of the 19th century, which were later abandoned.

The purpose of the applied research was to illustrate the fragility of paper held in unsuitable conditions and how the space configured by the architects affects the documents in the archivists' custody. Probably, for this reason, the latter was actively involved in determining the characteristics necessary for good preservation, as the architects may not have understood the needs of the documents as the 'beneficiary' of the spaces, which were and are fragile, sensitive, particular, capricious and essential due to the content.

In conclusion, we believe this architectural program could be developed by contributing specialists in the two fields: architects and archivists. Consequently, through practice and evolution over the centuries, an architectural program dedicated to preserving documents, regardless of their medium, was determined on the borderline between a sociocultural and a political-administrative program.

14. Originality and innovative contributions of the thesis

The topic's novelty is emphasized in several ways, both in the documentation process and in the data processing.

The documentation was carried out in archives in the country (where we had access to unpublished documents) and abroad. Thus, the paper presents information on archives that is unknown to date and not yet part of any published research. Thus, the primary sources consisted of original documents or photocopies, drawings, photographs, videos, as well as the written part of the projects for which the study was carried out in:

- a) Archives in Romania: SANIC, SMBAN, CNSAS, SJANs, DMI, UAR, ANF, Sahia Film Archive, DJCS, "Ion Mincu" University, town halls, and county councils.
- b) Archives abroad: Germany, Italy, France, Slovakia, Norway, Denmark, Great Britain, Poland, Germany, Italy, France, Slovakia, Norway, Denmark, Great Britain and Poland.

Regarding the architectural plans in the NRA, they could not be identified because they had been extracted from research and were classified as secret documents. There were also exceptional cases where fronts, site plans, or photographs could be traced, but in extremely limited numbers. The plans identified are in Annex 1 and Annex 2, respectively

In case studies, an original approach was also used to present both implemented and non-implemented projects, some of the latter completely new. We choose this approach because, from the perspective of researching ideas about the subject, it is the intentions/vision of the buildings that matter, and only then does their materialization (depend on components outside the vision of the architects/archivists and of a logistical/financial nature).

The area researched (Romania, France, Germany, Russia, Italy, Great Britain, Poland, Norway, Slovakia, Denmark) and the period studied between the 18th and 21st centuries constitute, through the contextualized study, an innovative element.

The type of research and how the data were processed are also new elements, as they have been used in comparative analyses at the European level on the basis of predetermined criteria, which has never been done before.

Personal path and use of knowledge

During my PhD as a consultant, I worked with two National Archives. The first was Romania's (2022-2023) within the *eVitala* project, and the second was Oman's (2024) to study and improve the design of the general headquarters. In the latest collaboration, we were unpleasantly surprised by the limited understanding of this architectural program among some foreign architects. Although the design costs were high, the project had several major dysfunctions.³⁴ This aspect further substantiates the importance of the present work for future archive-building projects.

_

³⁴ Annex 4.

As a result of our research and deepening our understanding of the topic, we were accepted into the Expert Group on Archive Buildings and Environments (EGABE) of the International Council on Archives in 2024.35

Presentation of the results:

National and international conferences:

National and international conferences.	
2019	Faculty of Civil Engineering and Architecture, University of Niš, Serbia (October 24-25, 2019)
	V International symposium for students of doctoral studies in the fields of civil engineering, architecture and environmental protection, PhIDAC 2019
Presentation	Cultural center of architecture archive. A new view for the reusage of the nobiliary residences. Item case Haller castel in the Gârbou village Romania
2023	University 1 Bucharest, Faculty of History Centenary D. Onciul Perspectives on the Middle Ages and Early Modernity: Sources, Methods, Approaches (October 19-20, 2023)
Presentation	The State Archives in continuous construction site. The reconstruction of the ensemble under the direction of Dimitrie Onciul (1900-1923)
2023	"1 Decembrie 1918" University of Alba Iulia National Conference of Students and PhD students - History - Archaeology - Museology - Art History - Patrimony - (November 17, 2023)
Presentation	From European models to local archive buildings (19th-20th centuries).
2023	International Institute for Archival Science of Trieste and Maribor 33rd Conference international archival days 2023 17th iias international autumn archival school (November 28 -December 2)
Presentation	Giulio Magni an architect for the project of the State Archives in Bucharest at the end of the 19th century.

Publications:

Books:

Maria Alexandra Sas, Sediul Arhivelor Statului în șantier continuu, volumul I – secolul al XIX-lea, Onești, MGP, 2023, ISBN 978-606-622-689-9

Articles:

Maria Alexandra Sas, "Reconsiderarea unei ruine. Studiu pentru valorificarea ansamblului Castelului Haller-Jósika din Gârbou", în Transsylvania Nostra, în anul XIII, 50 (2019), pp. 20-31. http://www.transsylvanianostra.ro/tnjournal/en/article/433

Maria Alexandra Sas, "Arhivele statului în șantier continuu. Cazul Ansamblului monastic Mihai-Vodă din București (sec. XIX-XX)", în Buletinul Cercurilor Științifice Studențești, 27 (2021), pp. 67-404.

https://www.ceeol.com/search/article-detail?id=1125845

_

³⁵ ICA, 2024. "Expert group on archive buildings and environments – EGABE", june , 2024, https://www.ica.org/ica-network/expert-groups/egabe/committee/

Maria Alexandra Sas, "Sediul central al Arhivelor Naționale fragment de istorie" în Magazin istoric, 12 (2023), pp. 16-19.

https://magazinistoric.ro/decembrie-2023/

Maria Alexandra Sas, "Giulio Magni, an architect for the project of the State archives in Bucharest at the end of the 19th century" în Atlanti +, 34/1, (2023), pp. 7-22. https://doi.org/10.33700/2670-4579.34.1(2023)

REFERENCES

Books

- 1. ***, 70 Years of Slovak National Archives: Z dejín slovenského národného archívu. Bratislava: Slovenského národného archívu, (2024).
- 2. ***, Conseil général Seine-et-Marne. *Saint-Père de Melun de l'Abbaye à l'Hôtel du Département*. Seine-et-Marne: Conseil Général de Seine-et-Marne, (2000).
- 3. ***, *Les bâtiments d'archives 1986-2003*. Paris: Direction des Archives de France,)2003).
- 4. ***, Saint-Père de Melun de l'Abbaye à l'Hôtel du Département. Seine-et- Marne, Seine-et- Marne, Conseil Général de Seine-et- Marne, (2000).
- 5. ***, Bâtiments d'archives : vingt ans d'architecture française, 1965-1985. Paris: Archives nationales, (1986).
- 6. Arimia, Vasile. *Arhiviștii oameni ai timpurilor lor*. Târgu-Jiu: Centrul Județean pentru Conservarea și Promovarea Culturii Tradiționale Gorjene, (2011).
- 7. Belov, G. A., și A. I. Loghinova. *Teoria și practica muncii arhivistice în URSS*. Moscova: Direcția Generală a Arhivelor, (1958).
- 8. Bertini, Maria Barbara. *I custodi della memoria: L'edilizia archivistica italiana statale del XX secolo.* Milano: Maggioli, (2014).
- 9. Brun, Yann. *La sûreté du patrimoine archivistique*, 2nd ed. Paris: Service interministériel des Archives de France, (2018).
- 10. Cassanova, Eugentio. Arhivistica. Siena: STAB Lazzeri Graphic Arts, (1928).
- 11. Della Santa, Leopoldo. *Della Costruzione E Del Regolamento Di Una Pubblica Universale Biblioteca, Con La Pianta Dimostrativa*. Florența: Stamperia Granducale, (1854).
- 12. Della Santa, Leopoldo. *Della Costuzione e del Regolamento di una Pubblica Universale Biblioteca*. Florența, (1816).
- 13. Delsalle, Paul. A History of Archival Practice. Londra: Routledge, 2017.
- 14. Derrida, Jacques. *Mal d'archive: Une impression freudienne*. Paris: Éditions Galilée, (1995).
- 15. Diaconu, Felicia. *Crestomație de acte normative și documente privind teoria și practica arhivistică (1862-1974)*. Târgoviște: Cetatea de Scaun, (2016).
- 16. Dobrowolski, Henryk. *Pomieszczenia archiwalne*. Varsovia: Editura ABC, (2020).
- 17. Duchein, Michel. *Archive Buildings and Equipment*. Paris: ICA, (1988).
- 18. Dupont, Jean. *Archive dans la cité 2005-2015*. Paris: Éditions de la Cité, (2015).

- 19. Fănescu, Mihail, et al. *Arhivele Statului, 125 ani de activitate 1831-1956*. București: DGAS, (1957).
- 20. Fonnes, Ivar. *Fjellmagasin, hall D Riksarkivbygningen Folke Bernadottes vei 21, Oslo Nybygg.* Oslo: Statsbygg, (2009).
- 21. Friedrich, Markus. *The Birth of Archive*. Michigan: University of Michigan Press, (2018).
- 22. Gal, Ionel. *Raţiune şi represiune în Ministerul de Interne 1965-1989, Vol. II.* Iaşi: Domino, (2001).
- 23. Gal, Ionel. *Raţiunea şi represiunea în Ministerul de Interne 1965-1989*. Vol. I. Iaşi: Domino, (2001).
- 24. Herat, John. *Riksarkivet og Statsarkivet på Kringsjå: Magasinutvidelse*. Oslo: Statsbygg, (1998).
- 25. Herstad, John. *Riksarkivbygningen Folke Bernadottes vei 21, Oslo: Tilbygg og ombygging*. Oslo: Statsbygg, (2005).
- 26. Holl, Kristina, şi Ralf Kilian. *Handbuch Depots und Archive: Handlungsempfehlungen für Planung und Betrieb*. Frankfurt: Fraunhofer IRB, (2022).
- 27. Ibáñez Montoya, Joaquín. *Los archivos: cómo construirlos*. Gijón: Ediciones TREA, (2008).
- 28. Kitching, Christopher. *Archive Buildings in the United Kingdom 1993-2005*. West Sussex: Phillimore, (2005.)
- 29. Kobold, Maria, și Jana Moczarski. *Bestandserhaltung Ein Ratgeber für Verwaltungen, Archive und Bibliotheken*, ed. A III-a. Darmstadt: Universitäts- und Landesbibliothek Darmstadt, Hessisches Landesarchiv, (2019).
- 30. Kosenko, O. N. *History of Archive Buildings*. Moscova: Rosspen, 2010. (În rusă: *История строительства архивов*. Москва: Росспэн, (2010.)
- 31. Kosenko, O. N. *Istoria construcțiilor de Arhive*, (О. Н. Косенко*История зданий архива*). Arhiva de Stat a Federației Ruse. Moscova: Rosspen, (2010).
- 32. Laborde, Léon Emmanuel S.J. *De l'organisation des bibliothèques dans Paris*. Vol. 1, *Bibliothèques*. Paris: Typographie de Firmin Didot Frères, (1845).
- 33. Lanzini, Marco. *Una guida sicura per gli archivisti. Le Istruzioni sugli archivi e sul loro regolamento di Luigi Bossi*. ArchiviOrg, (2022).
- 34. Lungu, Corneliu-Mihai, Ana-Felicita Diaconu, și Cristina Țineghe. *Arhivele înfruntând vremurile mărturii documentare*. București: ANR, (2006).
- 35. Mucenic, Cezar. *București, un veac de arhitectură civilă secolul XIX*. București: Silex, (1997).
- 36. Neufert, Ernst. Architects' Data. Hoboken: Wiley, (2012).
- 37. Oprea, Florea. *Conservarea și restaurarea documentelor de arhivă*. București: Fundația România de Mâine, (2008).
- 38. Pacifico, Michele F., Thomas P. Wilsted. *Archival and Special Collections Facilities*. Chicago: Society of American Archivists, (2009).
- 39. Peball, Kurt. *Das Österreichische Staatsarchiv, Geschichte Leistung Aufgabe*. Wien: Typographische Anstalt, (1988).
- 40. Pepene, Nicolae. *Cetățuia Brașovului*. Brașov: Muzeul Județean de Istorie Brașov, (2023).

- 41. Reisz, Csaba. *A nemzet levéltára*. Budapesta: Magyar Nemzeti Levéltára, (2023).
- 42. Rus, Anița, și Chipurici. *Arhivele Naționale la Mehedinți*. București: Editura MJM, (2013).
- 43. Rusu, Dumitru. *Artă monumentală socialistă în România și în Republica Moldova*. București: BACU, (2023).
- 44. Rusu, Dumitru. Socialist Modernism in Germany. București: BACU, (2019).
- 45. S. I. Tsemenkova, *Istoria arhivelor rusești din cele mai vechi timpuri până la începutul secolului al XX-lea* Ekaterinburg: Editura Universității Ural, (2015). (С. И. Цеменкова, История архивов России с древнейших времен до начала XX века)
- 46. Sacerdoțeanu, Aurelian, *Onciul, Dimitrie.: Scrieri Istorice*. Vol. I. București: Editura Științifică, (1968).
- 47. Sacerdoțeanu, Aurelian. Arhivistica. București: Editura Științifică, (1970).
- 48. Sacerdoțeanu, Aurelian. *Îndrumări în cercetări istorice*. București: Casa Școalelor, (1943).
- 49. Sas, Maria Alexandra. *Sediul Arhivelor Statului în șantier continuu, secolul al XIX-lea*. Vol. I. Onești: MGP, (2023).
- 50. Schütt, Hans-Heinz. *Saxa Loquuntur, lass die Steiner reden: Paul Ehmig Ein Baumeister in Mecklenburg.* Bremen: Temmen e. K., (2005).
- 51. Soret, Alain. *Traitement de l'air dans les bâtiments d'archives. Conception et gestion des équipements*. Paris: Ministère de la Culture et de la Communication, Direction Générale des Patrimoines, Service Interministériel des Archives de France, (2017).
- 52. The Director General of the National Archival Services of Norway. *Requirements for Archive Premises, Guidelines for Public Bodies*. Oslo: National Archival Services of Norway, (2007)
- 53. V. V. Adamovici, B. G. Barkihn, I. G. Gusev, *Proiectarea arhitecturală a clădirilor și structurilor publice, Ediția a II-a*, Moscova, Stroiizdat, 1985. (В. В. Адамович, Б. Г. Бархин, В. А. Варежкин, СПЕЦИАЛЬНОСТЬ ІА "АРХИТЕКТУРА" АРХИТЕКТУРНОЕ ПРОЕКТИРОВАН И Е ОБЩЕСТВЕННЫХ ЗДАНИЙ И СООРУЖЕНИИ)
- 54. Vais, Dana. *Global și local în arhitectura contemporană*. Cluj-Napoca: UtPress, (2011).
- 55. Vais, Gheorghe. *Clujul eclectic, programe de arhitectură în perioada dualistă (1867-1918)*. Cluj-Napoca: UtPress, (2009).
- 56. Winter, Gustav. *Das neue Gebäude des Haus-, Hof- und Staatsarchivs zu Wien*. Wien: C. Gerold's Sohn in Komm, (1903).
- 57. Zhugastr-Lushina, Alevtina Mihailovna. *Clădiri de arhive în străinătate*. Moscova: Stroiizda, (1975). (Жугастр-Лушина Алевтина Михайловна, хранительница архива в Эстонии)

Encyclopaedias

- 1. Duranti, Luciana, și Franks, C. Patricia. *Encyclopedia of Archival Science*. S.v. "archival building." New York: Rowman & Littlefield, 2015.
- 2. Duranti, Luciana, și Franks, C. Patricia. *Encyclopedia of Archival Writers 1515-2015*. Londra: Rowman & Littlefield, 2019.
- 3. Scorpan, Costin. Istoria României Enciclopedie. București: Nemira, 1997.

Dictionaries

- 1. Popovici, Bogdan-Florin. *Dicționar englez-român de termeni arhivistici*. S.v. "depozit de arhivă (n.)". Brașov: Suvenir, 2012.
- 2. Dicționar al științelor speciale ale istoriei: Arhivistică, cronologie, diplomatică, genealogie, heraldică, paleografie, sigilografie. București: Științifică și Enciclopedică, 1982.
- 3. "Dictionar englez Oxford". Iulie 2023. https://doi.org/10.1093/0ED/7920099232.

Chapters from books:

- 1. ***,"Architecture d'archives 2004-2012, editat de Service interministériel des Archives de France, Paris: Service interministériel des Archives de France, (2013).
- 2. ***,"Communication des archives royales de Danemark, progrès récents en matière de construction d'archives." În *Progrès récents en matière de construction d'archives*. Budapesta, (1963).
- 3. Antonescu, Rodica. "Conservarea fondurilor de arhitectură." În *Ghid practic pentru constituirea, organizarea, conservarea și valorificarea fondurilor de arhitectură,* [numărul paginilor]. București: Editura Heritage, (2013).
- 4. Dordea, Ioan. "Arhivele transilvănene de-a lungul veacurilor." În *Din istoria arhivelor ardelene*, [numărul paginilor]. Cluj-Napoca: DGAS, (1995).
- 5. Drăgan, Ioan. "Arhivele din România și Bibliotecile lor documentare." În *Din Istoria Arhivelor Ardelene*. Cluj-Napoca: Arhivele Statului, (1995).
- 6. Drăgan, Ioan. "Arhivele Statului din Cluj." În *Din istoria arhivelor ardelene*, [numărul paginilor]. Cluj-Napoca: DGAS, (1995).
- 7. Duchein, Michel. "Conservation matérielle des documents." partea a III-a. În *Manuel d'archivistique. Théorie et pratique des Archives publiques en France*, Paris: SEVPEN, (1970).
- 8. Ermisse, Gerard. "La construzione in Francia di Edifici per archivi: principi e realta." În *La construzione degli archivi: linee di pianificazione e tecniche costruttive*, Trento: Studio B1 Quaattro, (2006).
- 9. Étienne, Geneviève. "Caractéristiques et spécificités: vocation, fonction, usage." În *Les archives dans la cité*, Jean, Mirelle. "Les bâtiments des Archives départementales du Nord: une tradition d'innovation." În *Architectures et espaces de la conservation 1959-2012*, Lille: Presses Universitaires du Septentrion, (2018).
- 10. Favier, Jean. "Une maison pour une mémoire." În *Bâtiments d'archives: vingt ans d'architecture française, 1965-1985*. Paris: Archives Nationales, (1986).
- 11. Jean, Mirelle. Les bâtiments des Archives départementales du Nord: une tradition d'innovation. În Architectures et espaces de la conservation 1959-2015, editat de Éditions Universitaires du Septentrion, Lille, (2018).
- 12. Klasen, Ludwig. "Archive und Bibliotheken." În *Gebäude für Kunst und Wissenschaft*, 123-130. Leipzig: Baumgärtner's Buchhandlung, (1887).
- 13. Mahieu, Bernard. "Un projet de Napoléon", în Bâtiments d'archives, vingt ans d'architecture française 1965-1985 Paris: Archives Nationales, (1986)

- 14. Neirinck, Danièle. "Le bâtiment d'archives: évolution du concept et des techniques," capitolul 11. În *La pratique archivistique française*, 538. Paris: Direction des archives de France, (1993).
- 15. Opfermann, Rudolf. "Archive und Bibliotheken." În *Gebäude für Erziehung, Wissenschaft und Kunst*, Darmstadt: Verlag von Arnold Bergsträsser, (1893).
- 16. Opfermann, Rudolf. "Archive und Bibliotheken." În *Gebäude Für Erziehung, Wissenschaft und Kunst*, Stuttgart: Alfred Kröner Verlag, (1906).
- 17. Popovici, Bogdan-Florin. "Considerations About the Soviet Influence on Archival Operations in Romania." În *Urkunden, Archive, Kontexte*, 123-145. Göttingen: Würzburg, V&R unipress, (2022).
- 18. Quantin, Stéphanie. "Les bâtiments d'archives dans la France du Nord au XIXe siècle. Une architecture en quête d'identité." În Archives, archivistes et archivistique dans l'Europe du nord-ouest de l'antiquité à nos jours entre gouvernance et mémoire, editat de Publications de l'Institut de recherches historiques du Septentrion, Lille, (2007).
- 19. Quetin, Michel. "Les installations de micrographie dans les service d'archives publique françaises." În *Bâtiments d'archives: vingt ans d'architecture française, 1965-1985,* Paris: Archives Nationales, (1986).
- 20. Saïe-Belaïsc, France. "Tours et atours pour les bâtiments d'archives." În Architectures et espaces de la conservation 1959-2015, editat de Éditions Universitaires du Septentrion, Lille, (2018).
- 21. Vlaicu, Monica. "Arhivele Statului Sibiu." În *120 Arhivă publică în Transilvania*, [numărul paginilor]. Sibiu: Tenis-Club-Sen, (1996).

Standards and norms/regulations

- 1. ***, Conseil International des Archives. *Manuel de traitement des archives d'architecture XIXe-XXe siècles*. Paris: CIA, (2000).
- 2. ***, Direcția Generală a Arhivelor. *Norme de bază pentru activitatea în Arhivele Statului,* Moscova.(1962).
- 3. ***, International Organization for Standardization (ISO). *ISO 11799:2017, Information and Documentation Document Storage Requirements for Archive and Library Materials*. Geneva: ISO, (2017).
- 4. ***, Normativ privind caracteristicile tehnico-funcționale. București: ANR, (1996).
- 5. ***, Norme de bază în munca Arhivele Statului. Moscova: DGAS-URSS, (1962)
- 6. ***, Service interministériel des Archives de France. *Règles de base pour la construction et l'aménagement d'un bâtiment d'archives*. 5th rev. Paris: Service interministériel des Archives de France, (2023).
- 7. ASRO Standard Român. Conservarea bunurilor culturale. Specificații pentru temperatură și umiditate relativă pentru limitarea deteriorării mecanice induse de climat asupra materialelor organice higroscopice. Standard No. 15757, (2012).
- 8. ASRO Standard Român. SR ISO 11108, Informarea și documentarea hârtiei pentru documente de arhivă, condiții pentru permanență și durabilitate. (2000).
- 9. British Standards Institution. *BS 5454:1977 Recommendations for the Storage and Exhibition of Archival Documents.* (1977)

- 10. British Standards Institution. *BS EN 16893:2018, Conservation of Cultural Heritage:* Specifications for Location, Construction and Modification of Buildings or Rooms Intended for the Storage or Use of Heritage Collections. London: BSI, (2018).
- 11. Deutsches Institut für Normung (DIN). *DIN 67700:2017, Furniture for Archives Requirements and Tests.* Berlin: DIN, (2017).
- 12. Instruction DITN/RES/2008/005 du 15 juillet 2008. Les rayonnages dans les magasins d'archives.(2008)
- 13. International Organization for Standardization (ISO). *ISO 18920:2011-10, Imaging Materials Processed Photographic Reflection Prints Storage Practices.* Geneva: ISO, 2011.
- 14. International Organization for Standardization (ISO). *ISO 18934:2019, Imaging Materials Multiple Media Archives Storage Environment.* Geneva: ISO, (2019).
- 15. International Organization for Standardization. *Information and Documentation Document Storage Requirements for Archive and Library Materials*. ISO 11799:2015. Geneva: ISO, (2015).
- 16. ISO 11108:1996, Information and documentation Archival paper Requirements for permanence and durability. (1996)
- 17. ISO 5626:1993, Determination of folding endurance (1993).
- 18. National Fire Protection Association. *NFPA 75 Standard for the Fire Protection of Information Technology Equipment*. 2020 ed. National Fire Protection Association, 2020. https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/nfpa-75-standard-development/75.
- 19. Serviciul Arhitecturii și Oficiul Tehnic 1903-1950; Direcția SPATE
- 20. SN 426-82, Instrucțiuni pentru proiectarea arhivelor. Standard URSS, 1982. (SN 426-82 Инструкция по оформлению архива).
- 21. SR EN ISO 1974:2012, Hârtie. Determinarea rezistenței la sfâșiere. Metoda Elmendorf
- 22. SR EN ISO 5630-3:2015, Hârtie și carton, îmbătrânire accelerată. Partea 3: Tratament la căldura umedă la 80°C și 65%.
- 23. Standard Român. *SR EN 1991-1-1:2004, Eurocod 1: Acțiuni asupra structurilor. Partea 1-1: Acțiuni generale Greutăți proprii, greutăți utile pentru clădiri.*
- 24.. International Organization for Standardization. *Information and Documentation Management of the Environmental Conditions for Archive and Library Collections*. ISO 19815:2018. Geneva: ISO, 2018
- 25. The Director General of the National Archival Services of Norway. *Requirements for Archive Premises: Guidelines for Public Bodies*. Oslo: National Archival Services of Norway, (2007).
- 26. Service interministériel des Archives de France. *Règles de base pour la construction et l'aménagement d'un bâtiment d'archives*. 5th rev. Paris: Service interministériel des Archives de France, (2023).
- 27. The National Archives. *Standard for Record Repositories*. Regatul Unit al Marii Britanii, (2004).

Conference presentations

- 1. Popovici, Bogdan-Florin. "Biblioteconomia și arhivistica: surori sau cumnate?" Prezentare la Conferința Internațională de Biblioteconomie și Știința Informării, BIBLIO, Brasov, 2007.
- "Archive Buildings and the Conservation of Archival Material." Conferință, Viena, Austria, 30 octombrie 1 noiembrie 1985. Publicat în Mitteilungen des Österreichischen Staatsarchivs
 https://library.hungaricana.hu/en/view/Mosta 39/?pg=214&layout=s.
 (Accesat martie 2022).
- 3. Sas, Maria Alexandra. "De la modele europene la clădiri de arhive autohtone (sec. XIX-XX)." Prezentat la Conferința națională a studenților doctoranzi, ediția 31, Alba-Iulia, 17 noiembrie 2023.
- 4. Sas, Maria Alexandra. "Arhivele Statului în șantier continuu. Reconstrucția ansamblului sub directoratul lui Dimitrie Onciul (1900–1923)." Prezentat la conferința "Centenar D. Onciul: Perspective asupra Evului Mediu și modernității timpurii: surse, metode, abordări," Universitatea din București, Facultatea de Istorie, 19-20 octombrie 2023, București.

Articole din reviste şi/sau jurnale academice

- 1. ***, "Arkivverket." În *Sektorhistorikk Kulturdepartementet Landsverneplan*. Oslo: Landsverneplan for virksomheter Kulturdepartementet har ansvar for, (2015).
- 2. ***, "Din activitatea institutului de proiectare a construcțiilor tip (IPCT)." Revista construcțiilor și materialelor de construcții. Anul XI, nr. 8 (1959)
- 3. Aguilera, María, Jose Meroño, și Alberto Perea. "Analysis of the Degree of Degradation of Building Material in Historic Buildings Using Near Infrared Reflectance Spectroscopy (NIRS)." *Interciencia* 40 (2015).
- 4. Anderson, Ingvar. "Noi instalații de arhive." *Buletin informativ*, Direcția Generală a Statului.nr. 6 (1956),
- 5. Buchmann, Wolf. "Planning an Archive Building: The Cooperation Between Architect and Archivist." *Mitteilungen des Österreichischen Staatsarchivs* 39 (1986)
- 6. Burkhardt, Gustav. "Ueber Archivneubau und Einrichtungen." *Archivalische Zeitschrift*, nr. 1 (1876).
- 7. Carbone, Salvatore. "La moderna edilizia degli archivi (l'archivio di Stato di Udine)." *Rassegna degli Archivi Di Stato*, Nr. 1-3. Roma: Instituto Poligrafico dello Stato, (1955).
- 8. Celadyn, Wacław. "Durability of Buildings and Sustainable Architecture." *Technical Transactions Architecture* 7-A (2014).
- 9. Collins, Ivor. "Notes on Modern Archives Buildings in England, Wales and Northern Ireland." Paris: Presses Universitaires de France. *Archivum* 6 (1956).
- 10. Dobrowolski, Henryk. "Pomieszczenia archiwalne i wyposazenie Archiwow Państwowych." *Archeion* T.41 (1964)
- 11. Dragomir, Mihaela. "Osservazioni sugli archivi del Vicino Oriente antico, con riferimento agli archivi templari del I millennio a.C." *Revista Arhivelor* XC (2013)
- 12. Duchein, Michel, și Pierre Durye. "Les bâtiments d'archives départementales en France." În *Archivum*, vol. VI-VII (1956-1957)

- 13. Duchein, Michel. "European Archives in an Era of Change." În *American Archivist* 55 (1992)
- 14. Duchein, Michel. "The History of European Archives and the Development of the Archival Profession in Europe." *American Archivist* 55 (Winter 1992)
- 15. Duchein, Michel. "Vingt ans de constructions... et l'avenir." În *Bâtiments d'archives : vingt ans d'architecture française, 1965-1985*, Paris: Archives nationales, 1986. În *La Gazette des archives, Etudes d'archivistique 1957-1992*. (1992)
- 16. El-Daghar, Khaled "Conservation Techniques of Architectural Heritage and Private Property Legal Rights Case Study Alexandria, Egypt." *International Journal of Environmental Science & Sustainable Development* 5, nr. 1 (anul de publicare): 25. DOI: 10.21625/essd.v5i1.715
- 17. Favier, Jean. "Une maison pour une mémoire." În *Bâtiments d'archives: vingt ans d'architecture française, 1965-1985*, editat de Archives Nationales, 59-66. Paris: Archives Nationales, (1986).
- 18. Florea, Ioan, și Gabriel Ionescu. "Arhiva națională de film, păstrătoarea fondului național de filme documentare." *Revista Arhivelor*, nr. 3 (1980)
- 19. Georgeon-Liskenne, Anne. "Quels bâtiments d'archives pour quelle Allemagne ?" *Livraisons d'histoire de l'architecture*, nr. 10 (2005)
- 20. Gondos, Victor. "Collaboration between Archivists and Architects in Planning Archives Buildings." *Bulletins of the National Archives*, nr. 6 (1944)
- 21. Kahlenberg, Friedrich P. "Großbritannien." Archivalische Zeitschrift 71 (1975)
- 22. Kartous, Peter. "Tchécoslovaquie, Bratislava, Le nouveau bâtiment des archives d'etat centrales de la République Socialiste Slovaque à Bratislava." În *Modern Buildings of National Archives, International Review on Archives Revue*, vol. XXXI Paris. (1986).
- 23. Khorkhordina, T. I. "Intrarea Arhivelor naționale în Consiliul Internațional al Arhivelor. Intensificarea relațiilor internaționale." În *Istoria arhivelor și a afacerilor arhivistice din Rusia*, ISBN: 978-5-534-15239-5. (2022).
- 24. Kohl, Wilhelm. "Der Neubau des Staatsarchivs Münster." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 72 (1976).
- 25. Kołacz, Leszek. "Projekt centralnego gmachu archiwow panstwowych w Warszawie." *Archeion* nr. 32, Varșovia: Zaklady Graficzne. (1960).
- 26. Lamioni, Claudio. "La nuova sede Dell'archivio di Stato di Firenze." În *Rassegna degli Archivi di Stato*, Roma.nr. 2-3 (1995)
- 27. Lăzărescu, Cezar. "Probleme ale industrializării și prefabricării construcțiilor de locuit și social-culturale." *Revista Arhitectura*, nr. 6 (1969)
- 28. Leesch, Wolfgang. "Archivbau in Vergangenheit und Gegenwart." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 62, no. 1 (1966).
- 29. Lippert, Woldemar. "Das Sächsische Hauptstaatsarchiv zu Dresden und sein Neubau." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 35 (1925).
- 30. Lippert, Woldemar. "Das Sächsische Hauptstaatsarchiv zu Dresden und sein Neubau." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 35 (1925)

- 31. Lodolini, Armando. "La creazione di un grande archivio (l'archivio Nazionale D'italia all'eur)." *Rassegna degli Archivi Di Stato*, Roma: Instituto Poligrafico dello Stato. nr. 1-3 (1955).
- 32. Loose, Hans-Dieter. "Der Neubau des Staatsarchivs Hamburg." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* nr. 83 (2000).
- 33. Lopacinski, W. "GMACHY archiwów państwowych Rzeczypospolitej Polskiej." *Archeion* nr. 5 (1929). Varsovia: Zakłady Graficzne.
- 34. Moisil, Constantin. "Arhivele Statului." *Boabe de grâu*, nr. 10 (1930)
- 35. Neukam, Wilhelm G. "Der Erweiterungsbau des Staatsarchivs Bamberg." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 58 (1962)
- 36. Nica-Badea. "Factori și procese implicate în degradarea suporturilor celulozice ale bunurilor culturale." *Analele Universității "Constantin Brâncuși"* 2 (2010): 45-60.
- 37. Ntanos, Kostas, și Sarah VanSnick. "Understanding the Environment in an Archive Store." *International Preservation News*, nr. 55 (2011)
- 38. Paganini, Carlo. "La nuova sede dell'Archivio di Stato di Brescia e il X Congresso Nazionale Archivistico." *Rassegna degli Archivi di Stato* 1 (1961)
- 39. Paganini, Carlo. *Rassegna degli Archivi Di Stato*. Roma, Instituto poligrafico dello stato, 1961.
- 40. Paraschiv I. "Dezvoltarea Arhivelor Statului din RPR în ultimii 10 ani." *Buletin informativ, Direcția Arhivelor Statului*, nr. 9 (1957)
- 41. Paraschiv, Ion, și Ion Comănescu. "Raportul privind participarea delegației române la cel de-al III-lea Congres Internațional la Florența, Italia." *Buletin Informativ*, nr. 6, Direcția Arhivelor Statului.
- 42. Pfeiffe, Gerhard. "Das neue Dienstgebäude des Stadtarchivs Nürnberg." *Archivaleische Zeitschrift* 57 (1961).
- 43. Popovici, Bogdan-Florin. "'Arhiva totală': experiența românească. O incursiune în istoria conceptului de Fond Arhivistic Național." *Revista Arhivelor*, nr. 1 (2008)
- 44. Potra, George. "Contribuțiuni la istoricul Arhivelor românești." Revista Arhivelor, nr. 1 (1944).
- 45. Quantin, Stéphanie. Les bâtiments d'archives dans la France du Nord au XIXe siècle. Une architecture en quête d'identité. Villeneuve-d'Ascq: Publications de l'Institut de recherches historiques du Septentrion, 2007.
- 46. Sas, Maria Alexandra "Giulio Magni, an architect for the project of the State Archives in Bucharest at the end of the 19th century" Atlanti+, 34/1, (2023)
- 47. Sas, Maria Alexandra. "Arhivele statului în șantier continuu. Cazul Ansamblului monastic "Mihai Vodă" din București (sec. XIX-XX)." în *Buletinul Cercurilor Științifice*
- 48. Sas, Maria Alexandra. "Sediul central al Arhivelor Naționale. Fragment de istorie." Magazin istoric, nr. 12 (2023).
- 49. Stromeyer, Rainald. *Moderne Probleme des Magazinbaues in Deutschland und seinen Nachbarländern*. Köln: Greven Verlag, 1958.
- 50. Sulescu, Nicolae. "Studii pentru construirea unui palat al Arhivelor Statului." Revista Arhivelor, București: Direcția Generală a Arhivelor Statului. (1960)

- 51. T. Csaba Reisz, "The History of the NAH Central Building's Construction," în *Atlanti+* 25, no. 2 (2015)
- 52. Thomas, David. "Archive Buildings: International Comparisons." The American Archivist 9, no. 1 (1988)
- 53. Ungureanu, Gheorghe. "Materiale documentare adunate la Arhivele Statului de la Iași până în anul 1944." Revista Arhivelor, nr. 2 (1960).
- 54. von Löher, Franz. "Einrichtung von Archiven." Archivalische Zeitschrift 9 (1884).
- 55. Wrede, Günther. "Das neue Verwaltungsgebäude des Niedersächsischen Staatsarchivs in Osnabrück." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 54 (1958).
- 56. Zittel, Bernhard. "Der Neubau des Bayerischen Hauptstaatsarchivs München." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 64 (1968).

Courses

- 1. Gaivoronschi, Vlad. "Teoria programelor de arhitectură." Curs, Facultatea de Arhitectură din Timișoara, 2023.
- 2. Nica, Răzvan Mircea. "Programe de arhitectură." Curs, Facultatea de Arhitectură din Iași, 2023.
- 3. Vais, Gheorghe. "Programe de arhitectură." Curs, Facultatea de Arhitectură din Cluj-Napoca, 2023.

Online articles

- 1. "Henri Labrouste." *Encyclopaedia Britannica*. Ultima actualizare 2 iunie 2023. https://www.britannica.com/biography/Henri-Labrouste. (Accesat iunie 2023).
- "În Belgorod, renovarea clădirii arhivei de stat este finalizată înainte de termen."
 Belnovosti, 12 septembrie 2023.
 https://www.belnovosti.ru/obshestvo/zhkh/gorod/115729.html#. (Accesat decembrie 2023).
- 3. "Léon Majoux." *AGORHA*. 28/06/1860 06/1934. https://agorha.inha.fr/ark:/54721/1489a831-202f-4fa8-8351-e1e01a7ccf6c. (Accesat ianuarie 2023).
- 4. "Réhabilitation des Anciennes Archives Départementales Strasbourg." *CKD*. https://www.ckd-eg.com/realisation/Rehabilitation-des-Anciennes-Archives-Departementales-Strasbourg.html. (Accesat 5 martie 2023).
- 5. ***, "Archive buildings and the conservation of archival material." Conferință ținută la Viena, Austria, 30 octombrie 1 noiembrie 1985. Publicat în *Mitteilungen des Österreichischen Staatsarchivs* 39 (1986): 206. https://library.hungaricana.hu/en/view/Mosta39/?pg=214&layout=s. (Accesat 10 mai 2024).
- 6. ***, "Cause of Cologne archive collapse revealed." 5 noiembrie 2017. DW. https://www.dw.com/en/german-officials-reveal-cause-of-2009-cologne-archive-collapse/a-38805218. (Accesat 2 ianuarie 2024).
- 7. ***, "Finalizare proiect: consolidarea capacității arhivelor naționale de furnizare a serviciilor publice." Arhivele Naționale (eVITALA), ianuarie 2024.

- http://arhivelenationale.ro/site/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/NORME-METODOLOGICE-PRIVIND-APLICAREA-LEGII-ARHIVELOR.pdf.
- 8. ***; "Arhiva Navală: Clădiri celebre." *Πεπερбург 24*. (Accesat în noiembrie 2021). https://petersburg24.ru/.
- 9. Brzostovskaia, N.V. *Arhive și arhivare în țări străine (istorie și organizare modernă)*. Moscova: Yu.F. Kononova, 1971, https://studylib.ru/doc/6400587/uchebnik-brzhostovskoj-n.v. (Accesat 4 aprilie 2023).
- 10. Davoine, Gilles. "Agence Fuksas Archives Nationales Pierrefitte-sur-Seine." *AMC*, 4 aprilie 2013. https://www.amc-archi.com/article/agence-fuksas-archives-nationales-pierrefitte-sur-seine.42003. (Accesat septembrie 2022).
- 11. Duclert, Vincent. "Un palais pour les archives. Le projet Napoléon dans l'histoire." *Sociétés & Représentations* 19, nr. 1 (2005): 79-94. https://www.cairn.info/revue-societes-et-representations-2005-1-page-79.htm.
- 12. Gelfond, A. L. *Proiectarea arhitecturală a clădirilor publice*. Moscova: SRC INFRA-M, 2023. https://infram.ru/catalog/iskusstvo/arkhitekturnoe proektirovanie obshchestvennykh zdaniy 4/. (Accesat 3 martie 2024).
- 13. Gorbova, S.A. Istoria incendilor de la Moscova. RusArch, biblioteca electronică științifică de istoria arhitecturii vechii rusii. http://rusarch.ru/gorbova1.htm#:~:text=%D0%A1%D0%B8%D0%BB%D1%8C%D0 %BD%D1%8B%D0%B9%20%D0%BF%D0%BE%D0%B6%D0%B0%D1%80%2C%2 <u>0%D0%BD%D0%B0%D0%BF%D1%80%D0%B8%D0%BC%D0%B5%D1%80%2C%</u> 20%D1%81%D0%BB%D1%83%D1%87%D0%B8%D0%BB%D1%81%D1%8F%203. %D0%B2%D0%BE%D0%B4%D0%BE%D0%B9%20%D0%B8%D0%B7%20%D0%B 2%D0%B5%D0%B4%D0%B5%D1%80%20%D0%B8%20%D0%BA%D0%BE%D1% 88%D0%B5%D0%BB%D0%B5%D0%B9. Titlu original în rusă C.A. Горбова, История электронная научная библиотека ПО истории Московских пожаров, древнерусской архитектуры (Accesat 17 ianuarie 2023).
- 14. Mezentsev, Boris Sergheevici. *Arthive*. https://arthive.com/artists/57780~Boris Sergeyevich Mezentsev. (Accesat 12 februarie 2023).
- 15. Mintz, V. M. "Metodă de ridicare a planșeelor." *Vseslova*. http://vseslova.com.ua/word/%D0%9F%D1%96%D0%B4%D0%B4%D0%B9%D0%B5%D1%85%D1%96%D0%B2%D0%B5%D1%80%D1%85%D1%96%D0%B2%D0%B4-82506u. (Accesat 10 februarie 2023). (Ст М. Мінц, Підйому поверхів метод).
- 16. Peball, "Das Österreichische Staatsarchiv." Nonument, https://nonument.org/nonuments/bundesamtsgebaude-erdberg/.
- 17. Richter, Gregor. "Der Neubau des Hauptstaatsarchivs Stuttgart." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 66 (1970): https://doi.org/10.7788/az.1970.66.1.116. (Accesat 8 martie 2023).

- 18. Rumschöttel, Hermann. "Die Generaldirektion der Staatlichen Archive Bayerns." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 80 (1997) https://doi.org/10.7788/az.1997.80.1.1. (Accesat 6 iulie 2023).
- 19. Salentin, K., şi Wilhelm Heitmeyer. "Discrimination." *Encyclopedia Britannica*. https://www.britannica.com/topic/discrimination-society. (Accesat în ianuarie 2024).
- 20. Sarazin, Olivier. "Angoulême: un dessin géant de Schuiten sur les façades des Archives départementales." *Sud Ouest*, 29 ianuarie 2016. https://www.sudouest.fr/culture/bd/angouleme-un-dessin-geant-de-schuiten-sur-les-facades-des-archives-departementales-4716435.php?csnt=18ff69c2d5b. (Accesat august 2022).
- 21. Scherr, Laura. "Archivbau in Bayern im Spannungsfeld von Nachhaltigkeit, begrenzten Ressourcen und technischen Notwendigkeiten." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 99 (2022): https://doi.org/10.7788/9783412526634.949. (Accesat 6 iulie 2023).
- 22. Schmidt, Aloys. "Der Neubau des Staatsarchivs Koblenz." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 53 (1957): https://doi.org/10.7788/az-1957-jg04. (Accesat 5 martie 2023).
- 23. Sobianin, Serghei. "Cea mai mare arhivă robotică din Europa va apărea în districtele administrative Troiţki şi Novomoskovsky." MOS, 28 iunie 2021. В ТиНАО появится самый большой в Европе роботизированный архив / Новости города / Сайт Москвы (mos.ru). (Accesat 5 mai 2023).
- 24. Stehkämper, Hugo. "Der Neubau des Historischen Archivs der Stadt Köln." *Archivalische Zeitschrift* 68 (1972): 101. https://doi.org/10.7788/az.1972.68.1.99. (Accesat 29 aprilie 2023).
- 25. Tarbeev, Viaceslav. "Arta arhivistică Deco. De ce Arhiva de Stat a Federației Ruse nu este un monument de istorie și cultură?" Societate de istorie Rusă. https://historyrussia.org/sobytiya/arkhivnyj-ar-deko-pochemu-gosudarstvennyj-arkhiv-rf-ne-pamyatnik-istorii-i-kultury.html. Titlu original din rusă Вячеслав Тарбеев, Архивный ар-деко. Почему Государственный архив РФ не памятник истории и культуры?). (Accesat septembrie 2023).
- 26. Vais, Dana. "Editing the Socialist Dwelling: Catalogues of Housing Type Projects in the 1960s and 1970s Romania." Ianuarie 2024. DOI: 10.26424/philobib.2018.23.1.07.
- 27. Vogel, Kerstin. "Mutter- und Musteranstalt der deutschen Magazinarchive: Der Bau des Geheimen Haupt- und Staatsarchivs in Weimar von 1885." *Weimar, Jena: Die große Stadt* 5, no. 1 (2012). https://www.hsozkult.de/journal/id/z6ann-105552. (Accesat 7 iunie 2023).
- 28. Vorontsova, Tatyana. "Clădirea Arhivei Centrale de Stat a Actelor Antice." *Descoperă Moscova*. https://um.mos.ru/houses/zdanie-tsentralnogo-gosudarstvennogo-arkhivadrevnikh-akto/. (Accesat la 5 februarie 2023).
- 29. Zhang, Zheng, Ji Xin, Li Yang, şi Bo Liu. "Influence of the Coating Layer Characteristics on the Dynamic Permeability and Printing of Ink-Jet Paper." *Applied Mechanics and Materials* (2015). https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.731.447.
- 30. Zhugastr-Lushina, Recenzie la *Manual metodologic privind construcția și reconstrucția bibliotecilor*. 1994. https://ellib.gpntb.ru/subscribe/ntb/1994/8/Zhugastr-

- <u>Lushina AM Metodologicheskoe posobie po voprosam stroitelstva i rekonstruktsii b</u> ibliotek.pdf. (Accesat 15 februarie 2023).
- 31. Zieba-Palus, Anina, et al. "Analysis of Degraded Papers by Infrared and Raman Spectroscopy for Forensic Purposes." *Journal of Molecular Structure* 1140 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molstruc.2016.12.012.
- 32. Zwengel, Johann Peter. *New Groß Formular vnd vollkommlich Cantzlei Buch*. Frankfurt pe Main, 1568. Heidelberg Historic Literature Digitized. https://doi.org/10.11588/diglit.1903#0131. (Accesat iulie 2019).
- 33. Zwengel, Johann Peter. *New Groß Formular vnd vollkommlich Cantzlei Buch*. Frankfurt pe Main, 1568. Heidelberg Historic Literature Digitized. https://doi.org/10.11588/diglit.1903#0131. (Accesat 5 aprilie 2019).

License/Thesis

- 1. Leiskau, Katja. Architektur und Geschichte der staatlichen Archivzweckbauten in Deutschland 1871-1945. Teză de doctorat, Philipps-Universität Marburg, 2008. https://archiv.ub.uni-marburg.de/diss/z2008/0481/. (Accesat 2 ianuarie 2019).
- 2. Sas, Maria Alexandra. *Depozitul de arhivă. Arhitectură pentru hârtie*. Lucrare de disertație, Facultatea de Arhitectură și Urbanism Cluj-Napoca, UTCN, 2018.

Bibliography for specific research National Archives

1. Serviciul Arhivelor Nationale Istorice Centrale:

- a. **Fond Direcția Generală a Arhivelor Statului dosare:** 1/1862; 7/1881; 2/1917; 1/1919; 2/1923; 2/1928; 2/1937; 2/1939; 21/1940, 1/1945; 1/1951; 25/1951; 99/1953; 106/1954; 108/1954; 125/1955; 110/1958; 1/1959; 80/1959; 122/1959; , 83/1960; 2/1962; 3/1963; 4/1965; 18/1967; 4/1969; 7/1988;
- b. Inventarul fondului Direcției Generale a Arhivei Statului (nr. 2297, 1831-1942),
- c. Fond CMC Anastasie Joja, dosar 20/1959
- d. Fond Colecția Manuscrise cabinetul Alexandru Moghioroș, dosar 39/1955
- e. Fond Decrete ale Consiliului de Stat, dosar 891/1980
- f. Fond S.C. Prodomos. S.A., dosar 17/1969
- g. Fond Colecția Manuscrise 1290
- h. Sectorul special, dosare: 130/1954; 131/1954; 131/1959
- i. Fond DGAS-ST dosare: 130/1954; 2/1962; 1/1963; 3/1963; 1/1964; 2/1965; 18/1967; 2/1968; 4/1968; 5/1968; 6G/1968; 13/1968; 20/1968; 21/1968; 4/1969; 21/1969; 1/1970; 35/1971; 37/1971; 6/1975; 7/1977; 13/1978;
- j. Fond Aurelian Sacerdoțeanu, dosar: 51

2. Serviciul Județean al Arhivelot Naționale Alba

- a. fond DGAS FAS Alba, dosar 46
- 3. Serviciul Județean al Arhivelot Naționale Cluj

a. fond DGAS - Cluj, dosar 975/1968

4. Serviciul Județean al Arhivelot Naționale Brașov

a. fond Arhivele Naționale - Structura teritorială Brașov: dosar 38/1943; 1/1964

5. Serviciul Județean al Arhivelot Naționale Sibiu

a. fond Eduard Georg Muller, cutia 2, dosare: 6; 7; 9;

6. Consiliul National pentru Studierea Arhivelor Securității

a. ACNSAS, fond Sacerdoțeanu Aurelian, dosar nr. K 0012859;

7. Primăria Municipiului Cluj,

a. *fond SAC*, dosar 7/1967;

8. Primăria Municipiului București

b. fond Albastru III, dosare: 216/1940; 310/197

9. Institutul Național al Patrimoniului

c. fond DMI dosare: 534; 2273; 2274;

10. Arhiva Proiect București,

d. dosar 22800/1991

11. Arhiva UAR,

a. **fond Arhiva Istorică,** dosare: 1/1953; 33/1953;34/1953; 190/1957; 2/1953; 43/1961

12. Arhiva UAUIM,

e. Registru matricol, 1921-1926; 1945-1949; 1952-1958;

13. Arhivă Schwerin

f. Schutt, Hans-Heinz. *Saxa Loquuntur, lass die Steiner reden: Paul Ehmig - Ein Baumeister in Mecklenburg* (Bremen: Temmen e. K., 2005), 48-52, Arhiva Schwerin, fond MA.9/1 Finanzministerium, Hochbauabteilung, Staatsarchiv, Landeshauptarchiv Schwerin, f. S-2023-062.

Websites/web resources

- 1. "Arhiva navală: Clădiri celebre Петербург 24." *Petersburg 24*. https://petersburg24.ru/. (Accesat în 5 februarie 2023).
- 2. "Arhivă digitală cu reportaje și interviuri privind prăbușirea arhivei." *WDR*. https://reportage.wdr.de/einsturz-koelner-stadtarchiv#3616. (Accesat 2 ianuarie 2024)
- 3. "Arhivele Statului din regiunea Chelyabinsk, Rusia 'Tur virtual'." Accesat septembrie 2021. https://archive74.ru/Exhibitions/virtualtour/. (Accesat la 18 ianuarie 2023).
- 4. "Bauhaus-Archiv / Museum für Gestaltung." *Bauhaus*. https://www.bauhaus.de/en/bauhaus-archiv/. (Accesat 19 iunie 2022).
- 5. "Boganmeldelse: Eva og Nils Koppel." *Arkitektforeningen*. https://arkitektforeningen.dk. (Accesat în martie 2023).
- 6. "Cause of Cologne Archive Collapse Revealed." *DW*. Noiembrie 2017. https://www.dw.com/en/german-officials-reveal-cause-of-2009-cologne-archive-collapse/a-38805218. (Accesat iunie 2020).

- 7. "Consolidarea capacității arhivelor naționale de furnizare a serviciilor publice (eVITALA)." *Arhivele Naționale ale României*. https://arhivelenationale.ro/site/evitala/. (Accesat în februarie 2024).
- 8. "Construcția complexului arhivistic al Arhivelor de Stat ale Federației Ruse din Obninsk." *Arhivele Statului Rusia*, Statearchive. https://statearchive.ru/1218. (Accesat 19 aprilie 2024).
- 9. "Extension Federal Archive of Saxony Dresden." *EUmiesaward*. https://miesarch.com/work/1033. (Accesat 18 noiembrie 2018).
- 10. "Historique des archives publiques en France." France Archives. 27 octombrie 2020. https://francearchives.gouv.fr/fr/article/37707. (Accesat septembrie 2019).
- 11. "Istoric Instituție." *MAI*. Publicat pe mai 24, 2019. https://www.mai.gov.ro/despre-noi/istoric-institutie/.
- 12. "Muzeul German de Arhitectură, Frankfurt." *DAM*. https://dam-online.de/sammlungen/dam-archiv/. (Accesat 5 iunie 2022).
- 13. "Stadsarkivets byggnader, Stadsarkivet Kungsklippan." Publicat în 4 octombrie 2023. https://stadsarkivet.stockholm/stadsarkivets-uppdrag/stadsarkivets-byggnader/. (Accesat în 5 ianuarie 2024).
- 14. "Stadsarkivets byggnader, Stadsarkivet Kungsklippan." Publicat în 4 octombrie 2023. https://stadsarkivet.stockholm/stadsarkivets-uppdrag/stadsarkivets-byggnader/. (Accesat 5 ianuarie 2024).
- 15. "Technische Universität Berlin Architekturmuseum." *Architekturmuseum der Technischen Universität Berlin*. https://www.tu-berlin.de. (Accesat 8 iulie 2022).
- 16. "TUM Museum für Architektur der Pinakothek der Moderne." *Architekturmuseum*. https://www.architekturmuseum.de/. (Accesat 20 iunie 2022).
- 17. "Warszawski modernizm powojenny." *Warszawski Modernizm.* 8 mai 2017. https://warszawskisocmodernizm.tumblr.com/post/160443692413/archiwa-pa%C5%84stwowe-gmach-archiw%C3%B3w-pa%C5%84stwowych. (Accesat noiembrie 2022).
- 18. Akademie der Künste. "Architecture." *ADK*. https://www.adk.de/en/archives/archives-departments/architecture/. (accesat 5 iunie 2022).
- 19. Architype. "Herefordshire Archive and Records Centre: The UK's Leading Passivhaus, Sustainable Architects." Architype. August 2022, https://www.architype.co.uk/project/herefordshire-archive-and-records-centre.
- 20. Archive 74. "Istoria arhivei a regiunii Celiabinsk." *Arhiva Statelor Unite ale Regiunii Celiabinsk*. https://archive74.ru/ (Accesat 15 martie 2023).
- 21. Belnovosti. "În Belgorod, renovarea clădirii arhivei de stat este finalizată înainte de termen." 12 septembrie 2023. https://www.belnovosti.ru/obshestvo/zhkh/gorod/115729.html# (accesat 14 martie 2024).
- 22. Davoine, Gilles. "Agence Fuksas Archives Nationales Pierrefitte-sur-Seine." *AMC.* 4 aprilie 2013. https://www.amc-archi.com/article/agence-fuksas-archives-nationales-pierrefitte-sur-seine.42003. (Accesat septembrie 2022).

- 23. Gelfond, A. L. *Proiectarea arhitecturală a clădirilor publice*. Moscova: SRC INFRA-M, 2023.

 https://infram.ru/catalog/iskusstvo/arkhitekturnoe proektirovanie obshchestvennykh zdaniy 4/.

 (Ассезаt martie 2024). (Гельфонд А.Л., Архитектурное проектирование общественных зданий).
- 24. InoHubDoc. "Proiect co-finanțat prin Programul Operațional Capital Uman 2014-2020.". https://inohubdoc.upt.ro/. (Accesat în noiembrie 2022).
- 25. Institutul Central de Cercetare a Clădirilor de Divertisment și a Facilităților Sportive numit după B.S. Mezentsev. "Tipdoc." (arhivă digitală). https://tipdoc.ru/proevtsorg/1608430/. (Accesat 2 ianuarie 2023).
- 26. International Council on Archives (ICA). "Expert Group on Archive Buildings and Environments EGABE." 2024. https://www.ica.org/en/expert-group-on-archive-buildings-and-environments-egabe. (Accesat iunie 2024).
- 27. Khorkhordina, T. I. "Intrarea Arhivelor naţionale în Consiliul Internaţional al Arhivelor. Intensificarea relaţiilor internaţionale." În *Istoria arhivelor şi a afacerilor arhivistice din Rusia*, 433. ISBN: 978-5-534-15239-5, 2022. (Accesat mai 2023.) https://studme.org/423359/istoriya/vstuplenie otechestvennyh arhivov mezhdunar odnyy sovet arhivov aktivizatsiya mezhdunarodnyh svyazey#aftercont.((Т. И. Хорхордина, Вступление отечественных архивов в Международный совет архивов. Активизация международных связей).
- 28. Koeb, Joshua. "Bundesamtsgebäude Erdberg." *Nonument*. https://nonument.org/nonuments/bundesamtsgebaude-erdberg/. (Accesat în ianuarie 2022).
- 29. Maccabruni, Loredana. "L'alluvione nell'Archivio di Stato di Firenze. Il percorso di recupero e restauro dei documenti." https://mostre.sba.unifi.it/bellezza-salvata/it/67/l-alluvione-nell-archivio-di-stato-di-firenze -il-percorso-di-recupero-e-restauro-dei-documenti. (Accesat la aprilie 2023.)
- 30. Mason, Adriano. "1974. Concorso per il Nuovo Archivio di Stato di Firenze." Archilovers.

 Publicat pe 23 decembrie 2018.

 https://www.archilovers.com/projects/241793/1974-concorso-per-il-nuovo-archivio-di-firenze.html. (Accesat la ianuarie 2023)
- 31. National Fire Protection Association. *NFPA 75 Standard for the Fire Protection of Information Technology Equipment*. 2020 ed. National Fire Protection Association, 2020. https://www.nfpa.org/codes-and-standards/nfpa-75-standard-development/75.
- 32. Sobianin, Serghei. "Cea mai mare arhivă robotică din Europa va apărea în districtele administrative Troiţki şi Novomoskovsky." *MOS*, 28 iunie 2021. (В ТиНАО появится самый большой в Европе роботизированный архив," *Новости города*, Сайт Москвы), https://www.mos.ru/news/item/90342073/.
- 33. Telegra, date despre Zhugastr-Lushina Alevtina Mijhailovna, https://telegra.ph/ZHUGASTR-LUSHINA-ALEVTINA-MIHAJLOVNA-02-27, (accesat 5 februarie 2023). (Titlu original: Жугастр-Лушина, Алевтина Михайловна, Здания архивов за рубежом.)

Legislation

- 1. 19th-century
 - a. Regulamentului Organic din (1831)
 - b. Regulamentului Organic din (1832)
 - c. România. Monitorul Oficial nr. 245, 5 noiembrie (1862)
 - d. România. Monitorul Oficial, nr. 55, 6/18 iunie (1882)

2. 20th-century

- e. România. Monitorul Oficial nr. 153 din 15 iulie 1925. Legea Arhivelor din (1925)
- f. Guvernul României. "Decretul nr. 17/1954 privind trecerea Arhivelor Statului de la Ministerul Învățământului Public la Ministerul Afacerilor Interne." Publicat în Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I (1954)
- g. Consiliul de Miniștri al României. "Hotărârea nr. 1741 din 30 octombrie 1957 privind organizarea și profilarea unităților de proiectare." Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I (1957)
- h. Decret privind înființarea FAS al RPR. În Monitorul Oficial nr.19 din 26 Iulie (1957)
- i. Consiliul de Miniştri al României. "Hotărârea nr. 123 din 2 septembrie 1958."
 Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I (1958)
- j. Buletinul Oficial al României. "Hotărârea nr. 191/1963 privind organizarea și profilarea activității de proiectare." Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I, nr. 21 din 6 iulie (1963)
- k. România. Legea nr. 16 din 8 aprilie 1996 privind Arhivele Naţionale. Monitorul Oficial nr. 71 din 9 aprilie (1996).

3. 21st-century

- a. Comitetul de Miniștri. *Recomandare nr. R(2000) 13 a Comitetului de Miniștri către Statele membre, privind o politică europeană asupra accesului la Arhive.*
- b. România. Legea nr. 544/2001 privind liberul acces la informațiile de interes public. Monitorul Oficial nr. 663 din 23 octombrie (2001).
- c. România. *Legea nr. 182/2002 privind protecția informațiilor clasificate*. Monitorul Oficial nr. 248 din 12 aprilie (2002).
- d. Convenția privind patrimoniul cultural imaterial (2003).
- e. Guvernul României. "Monitorul Oficial al României, Partea I, nr. 253 din 7 mai 2013." Legea nr. 138/2013 pentru modificarea și completarea Legii Arhivelor Naționale nr. 16/1996.
- f. UNESCO, Recomandarea privind protecția și accesul la documentele de arhivă (2015).
- g. UE, Directivele privind protecția datelor: GDPR (2016)
- h. România. *Legea nr. 190 din 26 iulie 2018 privind protecția datelor cu caracter personal.* Monitorul Oficial nr. 190 din 26 iulie 2018.

Reports

- 1. Paraschiv, Ion. "Raport România." În Actes des 8 et 9 Conférences internationales de la Table ronde des Archives (Budapesta 1963, Londra 1965), p. 161. Buletin DGAS, nr. 6.
- 2. Direcția Generală a Statului. *Buletin informativ*, nr. 6. "Al III-lea Congres Internațional al Arhivelor, Florența, 25-29 septembrie 1956," p. 6.
- 3. Sektorhistorikk Kulturdepartementet. *Landsverneplan for virksomheter Kulturdepartementet har ansvar for 2015.* (Raport)
- 4. Sas, Maria Alexandra. *LIVRABIL: A1.1.L4: Raport de specialitate spații de depozitare.* Aiud: Arhivele Naționale ale României, 2022.
- 5. ***, Kulturdepartementet. Sektorhistorikk Kulturdepartementet Landsverneplan, Landsverneplan for virksomheter Kulturdepartementet har ansvar for 2015. Oslo: Kulturdepartementet, 2015.

Online resources

- 1. https://agorha.inha.fr
- 2. https://www.britannica.com
- 3. https://www.culture.gouv.fr
- 4. https://www.ica.org
- 5. https://archiviodistatoudine.cultura.gov.it
- 6. https://studme.org
- 7. https://mostre.sba.unifi.it
- 8. https://www.archilovers.com
- 9. cdn.ifla.org/wp-content/uploads/files/assets/pac/ipn/IPN 55 web 6 megas.pdf
- 10. https://arkitektforeningen.dk
- 11. https://pastvu.com
- 12. https://miesarch.com
- 13. https://www.architekturmuseum.de/
- 14. https://www.amc-archi.com
- 15. https://telegra.ph